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Policies and Rules Applicable to the
Bylaws of the Council on OccupaBonal EducaBon

References for policies and rules stated in this secon are given for the specific secOons where
they appear in the Bylaws of the Council on Occupational Education. The subsecBons that follow
are consistent with the order in which the topics appear in the Bylaws.
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ELIGIBILITY TO SERVE AS A PUBLIC MEMBER
OF THE COMMISSION OR THE COUNCIL APPEAL PANEL

An individual who represents the general public on the Commission or the Appeal Panel of the Council on
Occupadonal Educabon must not be any of the following:

(1) An employee, member of the governing board, owner, or shareholder of, or consultant to
an instudon that either is a candidate for accreditaon or is accredited by the Council or
has applied for candidacy or accredita®on by the Council.

(2) A member of any trade associaBon or membership organizadon related to, a liated with, or
associated with the Council.

(3) A spouse, parent, child, or sibling, of an individual iden6fied in item (1) or item (2) above.

REFERENCE: Bylaws of the Council on Occupational Education, Article Ill. Membership and Voting, Section 3.8
Council Appeal Panel, and Article IV. The Commission, Section 4.3 Election and Terms of the Members of the
Commission

AVAILABILITY OF COE PUBLICATIONS

InsBtudons interested in membership with the Council on OccupaBonal Educa®on may obtain copies of all
current Council publicaBons, applica®ons, and forms from the Council website (www.council.org).

Candidate visiBng team leaders will confirm that ins6tudons applying for candidacy have access to the most
current copies of the Handbook of Accreditadon, Policies and Rules of the Commission, Self-Study Manual,
and Guidelines for Accreditaon VisiBng Teams.

InsBtudons in candidate or accredited status will be no6fied when revised edi®ons of the Council’s primary
publicaBons are available on the Council’s web site.

Insetudons will be directed to download the latest edi6on of the Self-Study Manual upon no6fying the
Commission that they are ready to begin their self-study.

Team leaders and members shall have access to the appropriate versions of the Handbook of Accreditadon,
the Policies and Rules of the Commission, and the Guidelines for AccreditaBon VisiOng Teams on the
Council’s website. Team leaders will also have access to the Self-Study Manual.

InsBtudons are free to reproduce any of the above publica®ons downloaded from the website or purchase
hard copies of Council publicaBons by placing an order with the 0 ce of the Commission of the Council on
OccupaBonal Educadon.

REFERENCE: Bylaws of the Council on Occupational Education, Article IV. The Commission, Section 4.2, Commission
Responsibilities
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COMMISSION REVIEW COMMITTEE

The Commission Review CommiZee is established by the Commission as a standing commiXee. The
commiZee will be composed of all current members of the Commission and 20 to 25 members who will be
elected annually by the Commission to serve one-year terms. Persons elected to the Commission Review
CommiZee are eligible for elecbon to successive one-year terms without limitaBon. The Chair and Vice
Chair of the Commission Execubve CommiZee will serve as the Chair and Vice Chair, respecBvely, of the
Commission Review CommiZee. The Execu®ve Director of the Commission shall serve as Secretary of the
Commission Review CommiZee.

The funcBon of the Commission Review CommiXee will be to review insetudonal materials, educadonal
programs, and any other materials and/or documents that relate to the standards, criteria, condiéons,
policies, and/or procedures of the Commission. These funcBons may be performed by the commiZee as a
whole or by subgroups of the commiZee as may be appropriate for the parBcular task.

REFERENCE: Bylaws of the Council on Occupational Education, Article IV. The Commission, Section 4.16, Commission
Committees

PROCEDURES FOR SELECTION OF THE
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER OF THE COUNCIL AND COMMISSION

When a vacancy occurs (or is about to occur) in the posi©on of Chief Execubve O cer of the Council and
Commission, the Commission shall establish a selec®on commiXee composed of the following:

(@ The Execubve CommiZee of the Commission.
(b) Three administrators of insetuBons accredited by the Commission. These three members
are to be elected by the Commission.

NOTE: The chair and vice-chair of the Commission shall serve as chair and vice-chair of the selecéon
commiZee.

The du6es of the selecBon commiZee are the following:

(@ Solicit applicaBons from persons to be considered and screen these applicants as to
qualificaBons.

(b) Nominate at least three (3) acceptable candidates for the posi®on to the Commission.
(The Commission may appoint one of these candidates. Should the Commission choose not
to appoint one of the candidates, the selec6on process shall conénue.)

REFERENCE: Bylaws of the Council on Occupational Education, Article IV. The Commission, Section 4.17, Executive
Committee

4 - Council on Occupational Education



Policies and Rules Applicable to
CondiBons of AccreditaBon

References for policies and rules stated in this secon are given for the specific secOons where
they appear in the Handbook of Accreditation. The subsecons that follow are consistent with
the order in which the topics appear in the Handbook.
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AFFILIATION WITH COE

EDUCATIONAL PROGRAM POLICIES OF THE COUNCIL
Establishment of the Approved List of Programs

Ano cial lisbng of approved programs is established in the Council’s database once an ins6tuéon is
accepted as a candidate for accredita®on. The programs to include on the list are iniGally provided by

the insBtuBon in the candidate applicaBon. Each program on the list includes a program code (using the
ClassificaBon of Instruconal Programs code — CIP code), program name, mode of delivery (tradiBonal,
hybrid, and/or distance educadon), specific length in clock, semester credit, and/or quarter credit hours, and
whether or not an associate degree creden®al is awarded for program compleon.

IMPORTANT: Federal instuBons are not required to follow the same procedure for establishing a list of
programs. Informa®on about federal training is iniBally collected through the candidate applicaBon process
and detailed further in the ins6tuBonal self-study performed by federal ins6tudon candidates and members.

Programs to Include on the List of Approved Programs

The programs included on the approved program list are primarily postsecondary and o ered by ins6tudons
exclusively for career and technical educadon.

The following criteria are important when determining which programs must appear on the list:

1. The Council is an insetuBonal accreditor. This means that accreditadon by the Council includes
all programs that o er instrucon for job entry or career advancement. Therefore, all career and
technical educaon programs (associate degree and non-degree) must be included on the list
including those labeled as job upgrade training and vocaBonal-as-a-second-language programs.™

2. The Council does not accredit avocaBonal programs (such as stand-alone ESL programs). Insetudons
0 ering programs or courses that do not prepare students for job entry or career advancement are
not included in the list of approved programs accredited by the Council. IMPORTANT: Ins6tudons
0 ering avocaBonal programs/courses must clearly specify that those o erings are not accredited
by the Council and do not qualify for Title IV financial aid assistance in all publicaBons in which they
appear.

3. There is no minimum or maximum length defined by the Commission for career and technical
educadon programs. All career and technical educa®on programs, regardless of their length, must be
included on the list.

4, The names and lengths of programs on the list must be iden6cal to the descrip®on of programs
provided in insBtudonal publicabons (catalogs, brochures, web sites, etc.) and to state licenses/
approvals.

5. Programs that appear on the list of approved programs are considered to be ‘acove’ programs. That

is, they are marketed with the goal of enrolling students, and programs on the list are men6oned
specifically on an enroliment agreement the students sign that awards a specific creden®al. ALSO,
the programs on the list meet one of the following condi®ons: (a) currently have students enrolled;
(b) have had students enrolled in the past 12 months; (c) have been approved by the Commission
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within the past 180 days; or, (d) currently have or may have postsecondary (adult) student
enrollment in secondary occupa®onal programs. At least one of these condiBons is true at any point
in ®me. Programs that fail to meet at least one of these condi®ons must be removed from the list.

6. Ins@tudons must provide student achievement data (compleBon, placement, and possibly, licensure
exam pass rates) for each program on the approved program list.*
7. The list of programs (and student enroliment and number of campuses) is an important factor when

establishing the size of accredita®on visiong teams and choosing team members with appropriate
educabon and experience for the evaluaBon of the programs on the list.

8. The ins6tubonal self-study document must address compliance with accreditabon standards for all
programs on the approved program list, even if the program does not have students enrolled at the
©me of the accreditabon team visit. (See subsecBon 6tled: Changing the Approved Program List.)

9. Programs on the approved list may be eligible for Title IV Student Financial Aid or other funding
sources, but this is not the only factor in determining which programs must be included. The
previous points one through eight, alone, determine whether or not programs are included on the
list. However, because the Council’s accreditaBon process is recognized by the U.S. Department of
EducaBon as meebng one of the eligibility requirements for Title IV Student Financial Aid programs,
insBtudons must be sure that all Title IV eligible programs appear accurately on the approved
programs list.

Member ins6tubons are required to nodfy the Commission of addiBons, changes, and delebons to the list
of approved programs. InsBtuBons that fail to no6fy the Commission in a ©mely manner will be subject to
penalBes. (See the latest edi®on of the Handbook of Accreditabon, Substanéve Changes.)

IMPORTANT: A moratorium will be placed on the acceptance of, processing, and approval of ALL
substanBve changes beginning 6 months prior to the scheduled dates of accreditaBon team visits through
the date the Commission grants iniBal accredita®on or rea  rma6on of accredita®on. Also, ins6tudons in
candidate status are not permiZed to apply for approval of substan®ve changes of any kind.

*ConBnuing occupabonal educabon programs are not included on the list of approved programs. See the
definiBon for ‘conénuing occupabonal educabon’ and ‘job upgrade training’ in DefiniGons.)

Programs with Creden6aled Exit Points

Programs are 0Oen designed with embedded exit points (also referred to as occupaBonal compleSon
points). These exit points are created during a formal program planning process that is documented and
that includes input from the program’s occupaBonal advisory commiZee. Students enrolled in the program
who demonstrate acceptable progress are issued creden®als (such as cerbficates of comple®on) when these
points are reached. They indicate specific points within the program at which it is determined, during the
program planning process, that a student has gained marketable skills and is employable.

For example, a Licensed Prac6cal Nursing (LPN) program that is 1,200 clock hours in length (required for a
diploma) may be designed with an exit point creden®al 6tled, ‘Cerbfied Nursing Assistant Cerbficate.’ The
CNA cer6fficate is issued to students who complete at least 250 clock hours of the LPN program. Students
who choose to leave the LPN program before comple®ng the hours required for the diploma will sBll be
rewarded with a creden®al for comple®on of a certain porfon of instrucon that indicates the student
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gained a certain level of knowledge and skills. This cer6ficate may greatly benefit the student who seeks
employment in the field of Allied Health, even though it may be at a lower level of pay and long-term
opportunity.

InsBtubons are not required to list all exit points on the approved program list for the Council. However,

if the insBtuBon adverBses enrollment in an exit point program, like the CNA program men6oned in

the example above, it MUST list the CNA program separately on the approved program list. Ins6tudons’
admissions o ces must never enroll a student who is seeking only a lower-level creden6al (like the CNA
example, which requires only 250 clock hours and is not eligible for Title IV financial aid) into a longer
program (like the LPN program, which requires 1,200 clock hours) that is eligible for Title IV financial aid in
order to access that funding.

Overall, it is best to remember this rule: If the insBtubon adverBses a workforce preparabon/career
advancement program (regardless of the length of the program, whether or not it is an exit point of
another, longer program, or the creden®al o ered) on its website, in newspapers, on television, or any
other media, for the purpose of enrolling students, it MUST include that program on the Council’s list of
approved programs. It must also include those programs in the Self-Study, in FTE calcula®on, and it must
collect student achievement data for that program. (There are op©ons, however, when reporéng student
achievement data for exit points within the Council’s annual report soOware that are described in the Help
Manual for the soOware and discussed during Council workshops.)

Calcula®ng and Reporéng Program Length

As stated previously, there is no minimum or maximum program length that determines which programs
must be included on the list.

The Council uses the following defini®ons to describe the methods of measurement of program length:
Clock Hour: A period of 60 minutes with a minimum of 50 minutes of instrucon.

Semester Credit Hour: A unit of program measurement that equals a minimum of 15 clock hours of
lecture, 30 clock hours of laboratory, or 45 clock hours of work-based acovibes.

Quarter Credit Hour: A unit of program measurement that equals a minimum of 10 clock hours of
lecture, 20 clock hours of lecture, or 30 clock hours of work-based acovifes.

The Commission is aware that some postsecondary ins6tudonal licensing agencies approve courses and/

or programs with the number of credit hours being calculated to as many as two decimal places. The
Commission is also aware that the general pracOce in the postsecondary educaBon community is to measure
courses and programs in whole numbers of credit hours.

The policy of the Commission is that the conversion of clock hours to credit hours for individual courses may

be calculated to include a fracoon or decimal but must not be inflated by rounding up. The sum of the course
credit hours for a program must equal a whole number without rounding up.
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Federal Credit Hour Conversion for Determining Federal Student Financial Aid

On October 29, 2010, the U.S. Department of EducaBon published in the Federal Register regulaBons on
program integrity pertaining to clock hour-to-credit hour conversion of academic credits to federal credit
hours for determining Federal Student Financial Aid.

1. Academic and Federal Credit Hours

InsBtudons may use credit hours to define an amount of work represented by verifiable student
achievement of insBtuBonally established learning outcomes. Based on the Carnegie Unit, one academic
semester credit hour is based on 15 clock hours of lecture, 30 clock hours of lab work, or 45 clock hours of
work-based learning. One academic quarter credit hour is based on 10 clock hours of lecture, 20 clock hours
of lab work, and 30 clock hours of work-based learning. Academic credit hours specify “school 8me” only and
do not indicate ®me students spend doing homework, research or other unsupervised learning acévibes.
The federal regulaBons do not change these academic credit hour conversions, and an insétuéon’s academic
credit hours will not be a ected by the reguladons.

Credit hours are also used to determine the eligibility of an educaonal program for par©cipadon in federal
financial aid programs. The Department of EducaBon uses a di erent formula for calcula®ng program
eligibility to qualify for federal student financial aid. The Department’s formula is used to determine

what may be called “federal” or “financial aid” credit hours, as opposed to the academic credit hours
described above. Federal credit hours do account for ©me students spend doing homework, research or
other unsupervised learning acovifes (herein referred to as “course prep” ©me). The Department requires
37.5 clock hours of school ©me and course prep ©me for each semester credit hour and 25 clock hours of
school ®me and course prep 6me for each quarter credit hour. Previously these conversion rates were set
at 30 clock hours per federal semester credit hour, and 20 clock hours per federal quarter credit hour. The
addiGonal 7.5 clock hours for each semester credit, and 5 clock hours for each quarter credit are specifically
intended to account for the addi©on of student course prep ©me. Only programs that are at least 900 clock
hours in length, accoun®ng for both school ©me and course prep ©me, may be eligible for the maximum
allowable federal student financial aid.

2. Documeneng Course Prep Time for Federal Credit Hours

Since course prep ©me is included in the calculaBon of federal or financial aid credit hours, ins6tueons must
have wriZen policies and procedures for determining the amount of student work to be done outside of
class. Assignments for homework or course prep work must idenfy specific learning objec6ves for each
course as well as an approximate ©me required for comple®on. Furthermore, the work must be evaluated,
graded and weighted appropriately in the determinadon of the final grade for each course. Ins6tudons will
be required to maintain documentafon that course prep work assignments are completed and considered in
determining the final course grade.

If current academic credit hours already include at least 7.5 clock hours of course prep work for each
academic semester credit hour, or at least 5 clock hours of course prep work for each academic quarter
credit hour, insBtubons must nonetheless document the nature, objecOves, and 6me requirements for the
homework, research or other unsupervised learning acévifes required for each course.
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3. Clock Hour Programs

Certain programs are required to be measured in clock hours, 00en by a federal or state regulatory board
or agency. These programs may be required to measure student progress in clock hours in order to receive
federal or state approval or professional licensure. In these cases, ins6tudons do not have the op6on to
convert clock hours to credit hours.

InsBtudons are responsible for securing informadon from the Department of Educa®on and complying with
regulaGons a econg eligibility for Federal Title IV, HEA student financial aid programs. COE instruc6ons and
guidelines are subject to change as the Council considers further implementa®on advisories from the U.S.
Department of Educadon.

4. Responsibili©es of Candidate and Accredited Ins©tuons

InsBtudons where programs are subject to the federal clock-to-credit hour conversion regulaBon must
prepare and submit to the Council a Program ModificaBon applicaBon for each a ected program (available
in the Documents/ApplicaBons secbon on the COE web site at www.council.org). Submitng a Program
ModificaBon applicaBon is not considered a substan6ve change when total lecture, lab or work-based
learning clock or credit hours increase by less than 25%. The Program ModificaBon applicaBon must indicate
the nature and esémated ©me requirements of the homework, research, or other unsupervised learning
objecOves assigned for each course in an approved program of study.

InsBtubons that choose to increase lecture, lab or work-based ac6vifes in an approved program of study by
25% or more must submit a Change in Exiseng Program applicaBon, which consBtutes a substanve change.
The applica®on must include documentadon of compelling market demand for the proposed increase.

All insBtuBons with programs a ected by the clock to federal credit hour conversion regulaBon must submit
to the Council their ins6tudonal policies and procedures for determining federal credit hours. AddiBonally,
Program ModificaBon applicaBons or Change in Exis®ng Program applicaons must be provided for each

a ected program.

Guidelines for Reporéng Secondary Programs

The Commission o ers its evaluabve services to postsecondary insétudons that enroll secondary students in
career and technical educabon programs. Insétuéons elecéng to include secondary programs in the self-
study process of the Council must specify this in their applica®on for candidate status with the Council and

indicate which programs enroll secondary students.

Once secondary program evaluadon is indicated, the ins6tuBon must:

a. Include secondary programs in the self-study document;
b. Include secondary students in the ins6tudon’s FTE calculaBon; and,
C. Collect compleBon rate data on the secondary student populaGon
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Secondary programs included on the list of approved programs are those that are occupadonal in nature and
enroll high school students (grades 11 and 12).

In some states, ins6tudons may enroll adult students in secondary occupa®onal programs. When this is
the case, those programs that have adults enrolled or MAY enroll adults must be on the list of approved
programs, especially if those adults are eligible for Title IV Student Financial Aid.

VocaBonal English-As-A-Second-Language Programs

A Vocabonal English-as-a-Second-Language (ESL) Program is a stand-alone program that is limited to
persons already possessing occupabonal competencies who would be employable if they could demonstrate
adequate English language skills. The program consists solely of English as a second language courses and
must meet the following requirements:

a. The program must meet the objec6ves and criteria required of all COE-approved
educabonal programs.

b. The ins6tubon must admit only students who need instrucBon in English to be able to
use the knowledge and skills that they already possess in order to obtain employment.

C. The ins6tubon must demonstrate that students enrolled in the ESL program possess

job skills, as evidenced by documenta®on such as creden@als, test scores, job experience, or
verificaBon of skill competencies by a third party.

d. The ins6tubon accepts the responsibility for placement assistance upon graduadon in
compliance with COE placement requirements.
e. The insBtuBon must submit student achievement data to verify comple©on rates,

placement rates, and if applicable, licensure exam pass rates, for all students enrolled in
VocaBonal ESL programs.

Vocabonal English-As-A-Second-Language Programs must be included on the list of programs.

Conversely, ‘AvocaBonal’ English-As-A-Second-Language programs (or ‘stand-alone’ ESL programs) are those
English language programs that enroll members of the community who are interested in learning the
language for purposes other than seeking employment. Avoca®onal English-As-A-Second-Language
Programs are not included in the Council’s scope of accreditaBon and are not included on the list of
programs. Ins6tudons o ering any avocaBonal programs must specify that the programs are not accredited
by the Council and do not qualify for Title IV financial aid assistance in appropriate publicaBons and
brochures.

InstrucBonal Delivery Methods
The instrucBonal delivery method is one of the program specifics contained on the approved program list.

The three types of instruc6onal delivery methods indicated on the approved program list are defined as
follows:
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Distance Educabon Program: A program that makes available 50% or more of its required
instrucOonal hours via distance educadon.

Hybrid Program: A program that makes available less than 50% of its required instruc®onal hours via
distance educadon.

TradiBonal Program: A program that requires all instrucGonal hours to be completed on campus.

When Council publicaBons use the term ‘Distance Educadon’ in context of a method of program delivery, it
is defined as follows:

Distance Educadon [Delivery Method]: Educa®on that uses one or more of the technologies to
deliver instrucoon to students who are separated from the instructor; and support regular and
substanBve instrucoon between students and the instructor, synchronously or asynchronously.
Technologies used may include the internet, print-based media, e-mail, one-way and two-way
transmissions through open broadcast, closed circuit, cable, microwave, broadband lines, fiber
op6Bcs, satellite, or wireless communicaons devices; audio conferencing; or video casse>es, DVD’s,
and CD-ROM:s, if the casseZes, DVD’s, or CD-ROMs are used in a course in conjuncOon with any of
the technologies listed.

InsBtuBons must report the highest percentage of distance educaon available for a program on the list.
That is, either hybrid or distance educadon delivery must be indicated — not both.

InformaBon regarding approval of distance educadon as a delivery method is discussed in this manual in the
secOon 6Btled: Procedures Required for Approval of Ins6tudonal Distance Educa®on Delivery.

Maintenance of the Approved Program List

InsBtudons are provided access to their current list of approved programs through the MyCouncil
accredita®Bon management system. Ins6tuons should review the program list at least twice each year to be
sure the specifics of each program on the list are accurate and idenfcally match insétuéonal publicabons
and state licenses/approvals.

The Council classifies changes to the approved program list as ‘substan6ve changes’. The Handbook of
Accreditaon provides a detailed chart of these changes under the ‘Programma6c’ heading.

In most instances, applicaBons must be provided and o cial approval granted in order to change the
approved program list once it is established. Site visits and fees are someBmes a part of the approval
process. The chart of programma6c substan6ve changes in the Handbook of AccreditaBon provides
insBtudons with informadon about the process for approval and whether or not fees and site visits are
necessary.
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The Council’s web site (www.council.org) provides instuBons with access to all applicabons required for
changing the list of approved programs. When site visits are involved as part of the approval process, the site
visit forms used by team members are also available on the web site.

IMPORTANT: A moratorium will be placed on the acceptance of, processing, and approval of ALL
substanBve changes beginning 6 months prior to the scheduled dates of accreditaBon team visits through
the date the Commission grants iniBal accreditaBon or rea rma6on of accreditaon. Also, ins6tudons in
candidate status are not permiZed to apply for approval of substan®ve changes of any kind.

The term ‘teach out’ some®mes applies to programs on the approved list and is defined as follows.

Teach-Out: This term is used to describe the process of permanently closing (terminang) a
program that currently has students enrolled. The teach-out of a program may be accomplished

by the insBtubon alone or in agreement with another ins6tuéon. When a program teach-out is
performed by the ins6tuBon, an insBtuGonal teach-out form must be submiZed for approval by the
Commission. When a program teach-out is performed under an agreement with an outside enéty, a
two-party teach-out plan applicabon, a teach-out plan, and a copy of the teach-out agreement must
be submiXed for approval by the Commission. Teach-outs occur most commonly when a program
fails to meet enrollment expectadons or when it fails to meet one or more student achievement
benchmarks within the compliance period allowed and the ins6tuBon must close the program or risk
loss of status with the Council. Programs that are taught out and closed because of failure to meet
student achievement benchmarks cannot be added back to the list of approved programs unél at
least 12 months aOer the last student completes the teach-out. (See the Handbook of AccreditaBon
for more informa®on on program teach-outs.)

As stated previously in this secon, all programs on the approved program list are considered to be ‘acéve’
programs. Once a program is ‘deleted’, it is immediately removed from the list. The Council defines a
program dele®on as follows:

Dele6on: This term is used to describe the termina®on (closure) of a program o ered by an
ins@tudon. DeleBon applies when the insBtudon determines that a program will be permanently
removed from its list of program o erings and when no students are currently enrolled. Programs
that are deleted because of failure to meet student achievement benchmarks cannot be added back
to the list of approved programs for 12 months aOer the last student completes the teach-out.

Programs that have no enrollment for 12 consecu®ve months are classified as ‘deleted’ and must be
removed from the list of approved programs. Adding a program back to the list that had been removed
because of lack of enrollment for 12 consecubve months or more requires the submission of a new program
applicadon.

14 - Council on Occupational Education



Changing the Approved Program List

InsBtudons applying for changes to the approved program list must do so in a ®mely manner. ApplicaBons
for substan®ve changes must be submiZed for approval no less than 90 days prior to implemen6ng the
change. Normally, approvals to the approved program list occur within six to eight weeks aOer submission of

a complete applicadon.

InsBtuBons preparing to host an accreditabon visiong team may apply for approval of changes to the list
of approved programs within six months of hoseng the team visit. The chart of substan®ve changes in the
Handbook of AccreditaBon indicates, specifically, which program changes may be processed during that
©me. However, no program changes - whether new or pending - will be approved within 60 days of the
scheduled dates of accreditabon visiong teams.

Limits to Approvals for Changing the Approved Program List

There are several instances when changes to the approved program list (or any other substanfve change) are
not allowed:

1. During the period of candidate status (no substan®ve changes of any kind will be approved);

Within 6 months prior to hoséng an accreditabon team visit (a visit that involves the ins6tuéon
wriong the self-study document);

When an unplanned substan6ve change approval is pending;

When a decision on the appeal of a Commission decision is pending;

When an insBtuBon has a past-due invoice for payment owed to the Council; and,

When a restricOve violabon status has been imposed against an ins6tuon (probadon or show cause)

N

ook w

It is important to remember that failure to no®fy the Commission of a substanéve change may result in the
imposiOon of a penalty or cause loss of candidate or accredited status.

REFERENCE: Handbook of Accreditation: 2017 Edition, pages 7, 32, and 51
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ANNUAL FINANCIAL DATA FOR NON-PUBLIC INSTITUTIONS
A. Annual Submission of Financial Data
Each non-public ins6tudon that has candidate or accredited status with the Commission of the Council
on OccupaBonal Educadon is required to submit financial data on an annual basis. The data required for
submission each year must include:

1. Audited financial statements prepared by an independent cer6fied public accountant;

Audited financial statements shall adhere to Generally Accepted Accoun®ng Principles (GAAP) and
shall be prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Government Auding Standards (GAGAS).

At a minimum, the financial statements must include the following:

(@) Accountant’s report

(b) A balance sheet

(c) A separate income statement for each main campus

(d) A statement of cash flow

(e) All appropriate footnotes to the financial statements and other relevant disclosures

() A composite score calculated using the formula approved by the U.S. Department of
EducaBon, if not already included in the audited financial statement. (This requirement
applies to all non-public insBtudons regardless of whether or not they parBcipate in
Federal financial aid programs.)

2. A completed COE Financial QuesGonnaire; and,

The COE Financial QuesBonnaire must be completed by the ins6tuon.
The COE Financial QuesBonnaire can be obtained from the Council’s web site (www.council.org).

Annual financial data is due not later than six months following the date of the end of the
insBtudon’s fiscal year. The due date for each ins6tudon’s financial data will be monitored by the
Commission sta to ensure ©mely submission. If financial data are completed in advance of the due
date, the insBtuBon is encouraged to submit the data as soon as possible. Failure to submit the data
by the due date will result in a financial penalty as provided in the Handbook of AccreditaBon.

B. Submission of Financial Data for IniBal Accreditaon

For iniBal accreditaBon, non-public ins6tubons must submit financial data for the two most recent fiscal
years at least 60 days prior to hosong an iniBal accreditabon visiOng team. The first of those two years
must be the financial data submiZed with the ins6tudon’s candidacy applicaBon and the second financial
data must represent acOvity while the ins6tudon is in candidate status. Both fiscal years must demonstrate
compliance with the Commission’s financial stability requirements as stated in Standard 7 - Financial
Resources.
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C. Third-Party Audit Review

The Commission reserves the right to have any audit reviewed by an independent, third-party auditor. A
$1,500 fee will be assessed to an insBtubon requiring a third-party audit review. This assessment consists of
a non-refundable $250 audit review fee and a $1,250 deposit to cover the review cost. Any funds leO over
from the deposit are refunded to the ins6tudon. Should there be an outstanding balance aOer the deposit is
applied, the ins©tudon must pay the outstanding balance. The ins6tuon shall be provided with a statement
of expenses incurred.

REFERENCE: Handbook of Accreditation: 2017 Edition, pages 8, 14, and 68
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GUIDELINES FOR ACTION ON FINANCIAL DATA
THAT FAILS TO MEET FINANCIAL STABILITY REQUIREMENTS

Non-public insBtudons are required to submit financial data to the Commission each year. As stated in the
Handbook of AccreditaBon, ins6tubons must demonstrate financial stability through submission of the most
recent financial statement that reflects:

1.  Acomposite score of 1.5 or greater; and,

2. No condi6on or event which could potenBally a ect the ins6tudon’s ability to conBnue operadon,
including but not limited to, conGngent liabiliBes, on-going ligabon, or the financial stability of a
parent corporadon.

Financial data is first reviewed and summarized by Commission sta , then presented to the Commission for
its review and acBon at each of its meeéngs.

InsBtuBons that fail to meet either one of the condiBons above will be placed on a status and required to
submit documentadon. AcBons the Commission may take and documentadon they may request are outlined
below.

CONDITION COMMISSION ACTION DOCUMENTATION REQUIRED
1. Acomposite score Warning Status An audited financial statement completed
equal to 1.0, (at a minimum) by an independent CPA for a fiscal year
but less than 1.5 and a completed COE Financial Queson-

naire. Both to be submiZed on a schedule
determined by the Commission.

A pro forma financial statement prepared
by an independent CPA to be submiZed as
part of an interim status report.

The Commission may require addional
documentaBon or acBon by the ins6tubon
on a schedule it determines.

A composite score of Probabon Status Same as above
less than 1.0 (at a minimum)

2. Any condiBon or event Warning Status Interim reports on the status of con&ngent
which could poten6ally (at a minimum) liabilioes on a schedule determined by the
a ect the ins6tudon’s abil- Commission.
ity to conGnue operadon,
including but not limited The Commission may require addional
to, conBngent liabiliBes, documentaBon or acbon by the ins6tubon
on-going liegadbon, or the on a schedule it determines.

financial stability of a par-
ent corporadon.
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Time Period for Compliance

The Commission requires ins@tudons to take appropriate acbon to bring themselves into compliance with all
financial stability requirements within a ©me period that does not exceed:

1) Twelve months, if the program, or the longest program o ered by the ins6tuBon is less than
one year in length; or,

2 Eighteen months, if the program, or the longest program o ered by the instudon, is at least
one year, but less than two years in length; or,

(3) Two years, if the program, or the longest program o ered by the ins6tuon, is at least two

years in length

The Commission may use its discreBon to specify a ©me period for compliance more restricBve than those
listed above, based upon circumstances. Once the stated ©me period for compliance expires, the ins6tudon
will be subject to adverse acbon to be e ecBbve by the deadline originally specified in the Commission’s
le>er. The Commission may extend the ©me period for compliance with good cause.

A financial statement that is calculated using an accountant’s discretion. It does not follow GAAP or GAGAS.
Rather, calculations are computed according to the estimated relevance of certain events/ conditions
experienced by the company. Items that are normally included/excluded from an audited financial statement
using GAAP may be represented differently in a pro forma statement, depending on what the accountant
feels accurately represents the company’s true performance. However, the Council requires that each pro
forma statement submitted must include a balance sheet, an income statement, and a cash flow statement.

REFERENCE: Handbook of Accreditation: 2017 Edition, pages 8, 14, and 68
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GUIDELINES FOR ACTION ON PROGRAMS
THAT FAIL TO MEET ESTABLISHED BENCHMARKS

Upon compleBon of the annual report soOware each year, insStudons are provided with a list of compleSon,
placement, and licensure performance rates for each program reported.

The minimum student achievement benchmarks required to demonstrate compliance with the Council’s
standard and criteria regarding program outcomes (Standard 3) are as follows:

60% Total Comple©on Rate
70% Total Placement Rate
70% Licensure Exam Pass Rate

These benchmarks apply to each program at each locaBon approved by the Commission regardless of
program length, enrollment, or credenfal o ered.

Student achievement data is submiXed annually by all candidate and accredited insBtudons (except Federal
ins8tudons) through the Council’s annual reporéng soOware.

InsBtudons with one or more programs that fail to meet established benchmarks must submit, through the
annual report soOware, an explanaon for the program(s) failure to meet the benchmark(s), and a plan of
improvement for each triggered program.

Once the annual report is submiZed to the Commission o ce, a summary of all insétubonal annual report
data will be reviewed by the Commission at its next scheduled mee6ng. Ins6tuons reporéng one or more
programs that fail to meet one or more of the established benchmarks will be placed on Warning status.

InsBtudons on Warning status must submit documenta®on requested by the Commission by their stated
©melines.

Additonal acBons may be requested by the Commission which may include, but are not limited to, the
following:

1) AZendance of the chief administrabve o cer and the placement o cer at a Commission-
sponsored workshop for reporéng compledon, placement, and licensure exam pass rate data

(2) A>endance at a Commission Workshop on Program and Insetu@onal Outcomes or
improvement of comple®on/placement/licensure exam pass rates

(3) ConsultaBon in person or by telephone with a Commission sta member

4) The scheduling of a focused review visit to the insetuéon
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Timeline for Compliance

The Commission will require the ins6tudon to take appropriate acoon to bring triggered programs into
compliance with the agency’s standard within a ©me period that must not exceed:

(1) Twelve months, if the program, or the longest program o ered by the instudon is less than
one year in length; or,

(2) Eighteen months, if the program, or the longest program o ered by the ins6tuéon, is at least
one year, but less than two years in length; or,
(3) Two years, if the program, or the longest program o ered by the ins6tudon, is at least two

years in length

InsBtudons approaching the deadline for compliance originally specified by the Commission will be placed
on Proba6on status. The Commission will o er another opportunity for the submission of data that
demonstrates compliance with the benchmarks, an o cial noBce of the closure or teach out of triggered
programs, or a good cause extension request for review and acGon by the Commission at its next meeéng.

Once the ©me period for compliance expires, if the insBtudon fails to demonstrate the compliance of
triggered programs with the established minimum benchmarks, it will be dropped from candidate status or
accreditadon.

REFERENCE: Handbook of Accreditation: 2017 Edition, pages 9 and 61
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THE ACCREDITATION PROCESS

TEAM VISITS
A. General

The policy of the Commission is to select highly qualified visiong teams in order to ensure the most e ecbve
evaluadon of insBtudons. The visiOng teams are composed of professional educators with experBse and
experience in administrabve and/or academic posions and may include public members. A Commission
representabve may accompany a visiong team. The ins6tudon will be nobfied as to the membership of the
team prior to the distribuon of the team roster. A team member may be disqualified by the ins6tuon for
cause.

Consultants may not serve as leaders or members of visiong teams scheduled for ins6tuons for which they
have contracted their services. Anyone who violates this policy will be permanently barred from par6cipadon
in visiOng teams or any other accreditaBon acBvity conducted by the Council. (AddiBonally, consultants may
not serve in the role of accreditadon liaison for an ins®tudon and should not contact the Council o  ce for
informa®on on behalf of the instudon.)

VisiBng team members must cerofy that they have no vested interest or conflict of interest in the ins6tudon
to be visited. Team members must also cerofy that all documents and informa®on will be treated in a
confiden®al manner.

A visiong team shall not be assigned to any ins6tudon that has past due invoices from the Council on
OccupaBonal Educadon.

The Commission uses the following guidelines for establishing teams:
1. Team Leader

(@ Must have demonstrated competence in evaluadon, leadership, and wriZen
composieon.

(b)  Must have served as a member of at least two teams.

(c) Must be recommended to serve as future team leader by the leader of a team on which
he/she has been a member.

(d) Must agree to conduct prescribed acovifes within the idenbfied ®me frame.

(e) Must azend a workshop for team leaders, which includes the evaluaBon of programs
o ered via tradiBonal delivery and distance educa6on, prior to becoming a team leader
and must aZend a team leader workshop at least once every three years. (NOTE: The
Commission may waive this requirement in special circumstances.)
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2.  Team Members

(@) Must be recommended by a team leader, a school director, a state or county department
of educaBon representadbve, or the Commission sta .

(b)  Must have experfse or experience relevant to the field of occupaBonal educadon.

()  Must have filed a biographical data sheet with the Commission.

(d) Must azend a workshop for team members, which includes the evaluaGon of programs
o ered via tradiBonal delivery and distance educa6on, prior to becoming a team member
and must aZend a team member workshop at least once every three years. (NOTE: The
Commission may waive this requirement in special circumstances.)

3. Desirable Team Composifon

(@) Administrators and instructors of occupa®onal educa®on ins6tudons accredited by the
Commission.

(b)  System wide supervisors, coordinators, and directors of occupa©onal educadon.

(c) Teacher educators, student personnel specialists, and lay personnel (who have exper6se in
occupadonal educadon).

Team members are selected who have experfse in the programs o ered by the ins6tudons and knowledge
of the standards, criteria, condi®ons, policies, and procedures of the Commission. The team leader and
members are selected by the Commission’s sta . The team leader and the team members shall come from
outside the state of the main campus of the ins6tuon and cerofy that they have no vested interest or
conflict of interest in the ins©tudon to be visited and that they will treat all ins6tubonal documents and
informadon in accordance with the Council’s Conflict of Informa6on and Confiden6ality Policy. (Army, Navy,
and Air Force shall be considered as states for this purpose.) The Commission relies on the personal and
professional integrity of each visiong team member and expects him or her to be sensibve to potendal
conflicts of interest in the review process.

B. Candidate Visiong Teams

Upon receipt of a complete applicaBon for candidate for accreditaBon, the Commission sta shall assign a
visiong team (usually two members) to evaluate the ins6tuon (cost to be borne by the ins6tuéon). The
team usually plans to arrive by noon on the first day and conduct its review through the abernoon on the
following day.

The team evaluates the ins6tudon to verify that the eligibility requirements are met and to provide
informaBon for the Commission to determine that there is reasonable expectadon for the ins6tudon to
become accredited within three years. The candidacy visiong team will submit a wriXen report to the
Execu6ve Director within 30 days aOer comple&ng the site visit. A copy of the visi®ng team report will be
mailed to the insBtudon. The insBtuBon must provide the Commission with a response for any findings of
non-compliance in the team report within 30 days of the date that the report is mailed to the ins6tuéon.
Cost of the on-site evaluaBon will be borne by the insBtudon. The Execubve Director will determine the
amount of the deposit for the team site visit that must be conducted.
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C. AccreditaBon Visiong Teams

A current insBtudonal self-study must be completed by the sta of the ins6tubon before the preliminary
visit is made. The cost of the preliminary visit as well as the cost of the team visit is to be borne by the
insBtudon. The preliminary visit is concluded 30 days prior to the scheduled team visit. The purpose of the
preliminary visit is to assure the Commission that the ins6tudon is prepared for the team visit and to finalize
arrangements for the team visit. The team shall evaluate the educa®onal programs as well as determine
compliance with the standards, criteria, condiBons, policies, and procedures of the Commission. The
Commission sta  will determine the number of team members based on relevant factors such as the number
of programs, sta members, students enrolled, campuses, distance between campuses, and whether the
purpose of the visit is for iniBal accreditaBon or rea  rma6on. The team normally visits the ins6tudon for
three to five days depending on the size of the ins6tuéon, the number and locaGon of the campus(es), and
the number of programs o ered. All sites of the ins©tudon are visited each ©me an ins6tubon goes through
therea rmaon cycle. The composifon of the team is determined at the discre®on of the Commission sta .

The visiBng team leader will submit a wriZen report to the Execu@ve Director within 30 days aOer
compledng the site visit. A copy of the visiong team report will be mailed to the ins6tudon. The ins6tudon
must provide the Commission with a response for any findings of non-compliance in the team report within
30 days of the date that the report is mailed to the ins&tudon. IdenbficaBon of deficiencies documented
during the visit may result in the ins6tudon being placed on special status (warning, probaéon, or show
cause) or losing its accreditaBon. Cost of the on-site evaluaBon will be borne by the insétubon. The Execubve
Director will determine the amount of the deposit for the team site visit that must be conducted.

D. Focused Review Teams

Focused review team visits are conducted when certain substan®ve applicaBons are received or when, in
the judgment of the Commission, a re-evaluaon of the ins6tudon’s compliance with the Commission’s
standards, criteria, condi®ons, policies, and/or procedures is necessary (cost to be borne by the ins6tudon).
In either circumstance, the number of team members and the length of the visit are determined by the
Commission’s sta based on relevant factors such as the purpose of the visit, the number of campuses to
be visited, and the distance between the campuses to be visited. Focused review visits may require from
one to five days on campus depending on the nature of the visit. Focused review visits may be conducted as
announced or unannounced visits.

The focused review team leader will submit a wriZen report to the Execudve Director within 30 days aOer
compledng the site visit. A copy of the visiong team report will be mailed to the ins6tuéon. The ins6tubon
must provide the Commission with a response for any findings of non-compliance in the team report within
30 days of the date that the report is mailed to the ins6tudon. Iden6ficabon of deficiencies documented
during the visit may result in the insBtuon being placed on special status (warning, probadon, or show
cause) or losing its accredita®on. Cost of the on-site evaluaBon will be borne by the insétubon. The Execubve
Director will determine the amount of the deposit for the team site visit that must be conducted.
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E. Observers on VisiOng Teams

The Commission’s policy regarding observers of team visits di eren©ates between out-of-state and in-state
observers. An observer is defined as an individual who is not chosen by the Commission sta to serve on a
visiong team but who par6cipates in all acBviBes of the team visit except for evaluadon of any aspect of the
insBtudon, deliberabons of the visiong team, and decisions of the team.

An out-of-state individual may request to be an observer by wrieng the Commission. An observer is assigned
to a visiong team only aOer receiving Commission sta approval and when concurrence is obtained from the
insBtudon to be evaluated. Upon ins6tuBonal concurrence, the observer is nodfied and sent appropriate
materials from the team leader, the ins6tuBon, and the Commission. The Commission may include sta of
the U.S. Department of Educadon or out-of-state agencies on the visiong team. When an individual is invited
by the Commission to be an observer, the expenses are reimbursed by the Commission. Persons observing
at their own request are responsible for their own expenses.

With respect to in-state observers, the policy of the Commission is not to allow observers (as defined above)
on visieng teams to ins6tubons within the state of the observer’s residence. Ins6tuBons being visited may
permit in-state observers to visit the ins6tudon during the team evaluaBon; however, in-state observers do
not have access to the team meeongs.

REFERENCE: Handbook of Accreditation: 2017 Edition, page 14
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APPEAL PROCESS

The Handbook of AccreditaBon describes the appealable acGons of the Commission, the grounds for
appeals, and the basic requirements to iniBate an appeal. The Commission is charged with the responsibility
of defining procedures to ensure that the appeal process is fair and equitable for all par©es. The procedures
below are designed to achieve this requirement.

A. Request for Reconsideradon

The ins6tuBon may, only on one occasion, seek reconsideradon by the Commission of significant financial
informaBon that was unavailable to the ins©tuon or program prior to an adverse acbon, and that bears
materially on the financial deficiencies iden6fied by the Commission. This review shall take place prior to
the appeal board consideraBon of the adverse acBon. The adverse ac6on must have been based solely upon
a failure to meet a standard or criterion pertaining to finances. The Commission’s determinadon relabve to
significance or materiality of the new financial informa©on is not separately appealable by the insétudon.

B. Appeal Document

The ins6tubon must submit an appeal document (in PDF format) to include a table of contents and
consecubvely numbered pages to the ExecuBve Director electronically at least 10 days in advance of the
commencement of the appeal board proceedings. The appeal document shall set out, in detail, all of the
facts and arguments, which the ins6tudon believes, support a reversal or modificaBon of the Commission’s
acoon and include all documentadon to support its appeal.

Upon receipt of the insBtudon’s appeal document, the Execu6ve Director will provide the ins6tudon with a
copy of the Commission’s documents (in PDF format) for the Appeal Board electronically.

C. Appeal Panel

The appeal panel shall be composed of 45 members (15 to be elected each year). Members of the appeal
panel shall be nominated by the Council CommiZee on Nomina©ons and elected by the Council membership
from among the chief administraBve o cers (administrators) and occupadonal supervisors or instructors
(academics) of insBtuBons accredited by the Commission and representadves of the general public. The
panel members shall be selected on the basis of their academic and administraBve experfse and experience
in occupadonal educabon and their familiarity with the Commission’s standards, condiBons, policies, and
procedures. Elected panel members may serve out their full three-year terms, even if they rere or change
posiBons. An appeal panel member may be removed by the Commission for cause.

AQer receiving a formal, complete, and properly filed noBce of intent to appeal, the Commission Execudve
CommiZee shall name a five-member appeal board plus one alternate member from among the members of
the appeal panel. Board selecBons shall fulfill academic and administra6ve classificabons, and at least one of
the five-member appeal board selected will represent the general public. The alternate member selected will
also be a public member in the event that the iniBal public member selected is unable to conénue during the
appeal. This will ensure that a public member will have the opportunity to a ect the decision outcome of the
appeal.
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One member of the appeal board shall be named chair, and one member shall be hamed vice-chair. The
insBtudon will be provided with the names of members elected to the appeal board. Within 15 days, the
insBtudon may veto, with cause, any member elected to this first appeal board. Replacements for members
vetoed by the ins6tuBon shall be named from the appeal panel by the Commission Execubve CommiXZee and
are not subject to veto by the insBtudon.

The alternate board member shall a~end all appeal board proceedings, and shall replace any regular board
member who cannot fulfill his/her responsibili©es. The vice-chair will preside in the absence of the chair.

Commission members and Commission sta shall not be elected as members of the appeal panel. Should

a member of the appeal panel be elected to serve as a Commission member, he/she will be automaBcally
removed from the appeal panel. Appeal panel members from the same state as the aggrieved ins6tudon
shall not serve on the appeal board. Each selected Appeal Panel Board member shall cerofy that he/she has
no vested interest or conflict of interest in the aggrieved ins6tudon and that they will treat all ins6tuonal
documents and informaGon in accordance with the Council’s Conflict of InformaBon and Confiden®ality
Policy.

F. Expense of Appeal

The no6ce of intent to appeal must be accompanied by a cashier’s check in the amount of $30,000 to cover
the cost of the appeal. The $30,000 consists of a non-refundable $5,000 no6ce-of-intent-to-appeal fee and
a $25,000 deposit to cover the costs of the Appeal Board proceedings. Any funds leO over from the deposit
are refunded to the insétudon. Should there be an outstanding balance aOer the deposit is applied, the
insBtudon must pay the outstanding balance. The ins6tudon shall be provided a statement of expenses
incurred.

The ins6tuon will bear all direct costs in connecBon with the appeal including but not limited to the
following:

1. Travel and subsistence of appeal board members parBcipaéng in the appeal review and
proceedings.

2.  Cost of proceedings room.

3. Alldirect costs of the appeal, such as stenographic costs, mailing or distribu6on of appeal
documents, and communicaBon services.

4. Travel and subsistence of three o cial Commission representabves.

Court reporter costs.

6. Cost of Commission Legal Counsel should the appeal board a rm the acon of the
Commission.

o

G. Appeal Board Proceedings

The ExecuBve Director will set the date, ©6me, and place of the proceedings of the appeal board at least 30
days in advance and so no®fy the ins®tudon and members of the appeal board in wrieng. The ins6tubon
shall provide the ExecuBve Director with the names, addresses, and posions of all individuals whom the
insBtudon wants to be heard by the appeal board at least 10 days before the date for the proceedings.
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The Commission chair shall designate the persons who are to appear on behalf of the Commission. The
Commission chair shall submit to the appeal board and the ins6tuéon a list of names, addresses, and
posiBons of persons whom the chair has asked to appear before the appeal board at least 10 days before the
date of the proceedings.

The appeal board proceedings shall be conducted as follows:

1. The chair shall preside and act to maintain decorum. He/she shall ensure that the
par6cipants have a reasonable opportunity to be heard and to present all relevant oral and
wriZen documentadon. The chair may limit presentaBon of documentaon to avoid
repe6Oon. He/she shall have the right to vote and the authority to rule on quesBons which
pertain to the conduct of the hearing.

2. The Commission considers an appeal to be an adversarial proceeding. The ins&tudon

does not have the right to cross-examine individuals, such as the sta , members of the

evaluadon team, or Commission members. Only the appeal board members have the

right to quesBon individuals present at any hearing. Appeals are administrabve, not

judicial hearings; and, therefore, the legal rules of evidence are not applicable. Hearings

on appeals are closed to the public. The ins6tuon shall not present any new documentadon

concerning the progress of the ins6tudon or the remedying of deficiencies since the date of

the Commission’s acBon which is being appealed. The ins6tudon has the right to be
represented by legal counsel at the appeal.

Legal counsel will be present to advise the appeal board.

A court reporter will produce a transcript of the proceedings.

5. All of the oral and wriZen documentaBon shall be considered by the board in relaBon to the
specific grounds of appeal.

A ow

All members of the appeal board shall a>~end all of the proceedings. Proceedings shall be scheduled
to e ectuate their aXendance. The designated chair shall preside at all proceedings and will rule on
all procedural maZers. Decisions of an Appeal Board will be based upon a majority vote of the board’s
members.

H. LimitaGons
The Appeal Board shall act within the following limitaSons:
1. The Appeal Board shall not include current members of the Commission that took the iniGal
adverse acoon against the insBtudon.

2. The appeal boarda rms, amends, remands, or reverses the adverse acoons of the original
decision making body.
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l. Responsibility

The appeal board has the responsibility to prepare a wriZen report for the chief administrabve o cer of
the ins6tudon and for the Commission. The report will give the decision of the board and the reasons for
the decision. The report must be sent to the Execu®ve Director within 30 days following the last day of the
board proceedings. The Execu6ve Director will send one copy to the ins6tudon and place the report on the
agenda of the next Commission mee®ng. The Commission will receive the report of the appeal board, will
implement the appeal board’s decision, and will act in a manner consistent with the appeal board’s decision
regarding the insGtuon’s or program’s accreditadon status.

REFERENCE: Handbook of Accreditation: 2017 Edition, page 18
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OBLIGATIONS OF AFFILIATION

FULL-TIME EQUIVALENT

The Commission definiGon of Full-Time Equivalent (FTE) is a unit of measurement used by the Commission to
define the amount of scheduled instruc6on that equates to one full-6me student during one academic year.
The Commission defines an FTE as 900 contact (clock) hours, 45 quarter credit hours, or 30 semester credit
hours of scheduled instrucon. The clock or credit hours used to calculate an ins6tudon’s FTE must reflect
coursework in which a student has enrolled and matriculated. The FTE does not include hours or credits
transferred from other ins6tuGons or awarded as CLEP courses.

In establishing a raBonale for specificaBon of FTE, the Commission recognizes that numerous methods may
be used by states and insetuBons for calculadng FTE. While many ins6tudons are open twelve months each
year, some operate for only nine or ten months. Within some insBtudons, there are both full-6me and part-
®me students engaged in twelve-month programs, nine-month programs, evening short courses, 0 -campus
instrucOon, part-6me skill upgrade instrucon, and possibly other types of instrucBonal acvity. Among
these insBtubons, some programs are measured in semester or quarter hours, parfcularly if they are degree
programs, while other programs are measured in student contact clock hours. The Commission desires to
conform to general pracOce in the technical educa®on community to the extent feasible and, therefore, has
adopted this definiGon of an FTE for its reporéng purposes.

The FTE reported on the Annual Report each year determines the amount of dues that each ins&tuon will
owe the following fiscal year. The FTE for all types of program measurement at each branch, extension,
extended classroom, and instrucBonal service center must be added to the FTE for the main campus to
obtain the total FTE for the ins6tuon.

With Commission approval, military ins6tuBons and Job Corps Centers may apply roudnely used alternaéve
methods of compu®ng enroliment that yield a su ciently accurate approxima©on of the FTE.

REFERENCE: Handbook of Accreditation: 2017 Edition, page 26
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COST OF TEAM VISITS

InsBtubons must reimburse the Council for actual expenses of team members, sta members, and/or
Commission representadves. Reimbursable expenses include travel, lodging, and meals of the team, sta
members, and/or Commission representadves. (There is no charge for salaries of team members, sta
members, or Commission representadves.)

In addi®on to the expenses menBoned above, the Council will assess a fee of $1,000 for ini®al accredita®on
and renewal of accreditaBon. This fee is non-refundable.

InsBtudons shall not reimburse team members, sta members, or Commission representaéves directly. All
reimbursements are made in accordance with the policies and guidelines of the Council. Local ins6tudonal
travel policies do not apply to team visits since the individuals conductng the visits act as agents of the
Commission. The Council will contract with insetuBons or school systems that cannot otherwise reimburse
the Council for team visit expenses.

The ExecuBve Director will determine the amount of the deposit for each team visit that must be received

at least 30 days in advance of the date on which the team visit begins. The ins6tudon shall be provided

a statement of expenses incurred. Unused funds from the deposit shall be returned provided that the
insBtudon has no other outstanding debt with the Council; otherwise, unused funds will be applied toward
any outstanding debt the ins6tudon owes the Council. Any costs in excess of the deposit must be paid by the
insetudon.

REFERENCE: Handbook of Accreditation: 2017 Edition, page 26
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DEBARMENT APPEAL PROCEDURES
A. No6ce of Appeal

A person debarred by the Commission may appeal the debarment decision by submitng a wriXen nobce
of intent to appeal to the o ce of the Council on Occupa®onal Educaon within 20 days of the date of
the lezer noBfying the person of the debarment decision. The person (appellant) must state in the leXer
the grounds for the appeal and whether the appeal review will be conducted with a hearing or without a
hearing.

B. Appointment of a Debarment Appeal Board

The appeal proceeding will be conducted by a three-member Debarment Appeal Board appointed by the
Commission Chair from among the 45 members of the Council Appeal Panel. The Commission Chair shall
designate one member of the Debarment Appeal Board as Board Chair. In any instance where two or

more debarments are imposed by the Commission based on the same set of facts and/or condi®ons, the
Debarment Appeal Board may consider any or all appeals in one proceeding. The Debarment Appeal Board
Chair will establish deadlines for the submission of documenta®on to be considered by the Board and the
subsequent schedule for the conduct of the proceeding.

C. Review without Hearing

If the appellant does not request a hearing, the Debarment Appeal Board shall meet to determine its
decision regarding the appeal based on the appellant’s no6ce of intent to appeal and any supporéng
documentaBon and wriZen arguments submiXed by the appellant in accordance with the 6me schedule
established by the Board Chair. The Debarment Appeal Board may consult with legal counsel of the
Commission in reviewing the case and making its decision on the appeal. The decision of the Debarment
Appeal Board shall be transmiZed to the Commission for final acoon at its next meeong. The appellant shall
be noBfied of the Commission’s final acGon within 30 days of its decision.

D. Review with Hearing

The appellant may have a hearing before the Debarment Appeal Board if requested in the leZer no6fying the
Commission of the intent to appeal the debarment. The Chair of the Debarment Appeal Board shall no6fy
the appellant of the date, ®me, and place for the hearing and the deadline for receiving in advance of the
hearing any wriZen submissions including documentaon and arguments related to the debarment from the
appellant and legal counsel for the Commission. Such submissions must be received in the Council’so ce by
the established deadline. The following procedures will be applicable to the hearing:

1. The appellant shall have the burden of demonstraéng that the debarment should be set
aside or modified.
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2. The Debarment Appeal Board Chair shall establish the amount of ©me that will be allo>ed
for the hearing, taking into account the number of persons whose appeals are being heard
concurrently. The appellant may be represented by legal counsel. The 6me for the hearing
will be divided between the appellant and the Commission so as to give the Commission
©me to present its case for debarment and the appellant ®me to present a rebual
argument.

3. The Debarment Appeal Board’s decision on the appeal will be transmiZed to the
Commission within 30 days of the conclusion of the hearing for final acGon at its next
meeong. The appellant will be nobfied of the Commission’s acGon within 30 days of the
Commission’s decision.

E. Authority of the Debarment Appeal Board
The Debarment Appeal Board shall have the authority to recommend any of the following acons:
1. A rmabon of the Commission’s debarment decision.

2. Reversal of the debarment decision if it finds that the Commission’s decision was arbitrary,
capricious, or contrary to the substanBve obligaBons for accreditaBon by the Commission.

3. ModificaBon of the Commission’s debarment decision based upon newly discovered
substan®ve informabon, reversal of the grounds used for the debarment, or other material
grounds deemed applicable by the Debarment Appeal Board.

F. Expenses of the Debarment Appeal Board

The appellant shall bear all expenses of the debarment appeal, including but not limited to the cost of
travel and subsistence for the Debarment Appeal Board and two Council representa®ves, court reporter
services, Commission legal counsel, hearing room, and any other direct costs of the appeal. The Council will
require a deposit prior to the appeal review whether with or without a hearing based on esémated costs of
the appeal. Failure to pay the deposit by the due date shall be grounds for dismissal of the appeal without
further recourse.

REFERENCE: Handbook of Accreditation: 2017 Edition, page 27
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Substan6ve and Other Changes

CHANGE OF OWNERSHIP OR CONTROL

Accreditabon does not transfer with a change of ownership or control of an ins6tuBon. Rea rmaéon

of accreditaBon cannot be granted un6l a change of ownership or control has received final approval by
the Commission. Also, an applicaBon for a change of ownership or control will not be accepted unél any
substanBve changes requiring a site visit have been granted final approval or unél the Commission has
granted iniBal accreditabon or rea  rma6on of accreditabon following an accreditabon team visit. The
Handbook of AccreditaBon, change of ownership is defined as follows:

A.

For-Profit CorporaBon: A change of ownership is defined as the transfer of at least 50% of the
assets to another person. A change of ownership or construcve ownership of stock occurs at
the ©me a person obtains or accumulates at least 50% of the total combined vo®ng power of all
classes of stock en6tled to vote or at least 50% of the total value of shares of all classes of stock.
Person includes an individual, trust, estate, partnership, associaBon, company, or corporaéon.

If the owner of an ins©tuon dies or redres, and the owner’s interest is sold or transferred to
either a family member or another current owner of the corporaBon who has been acove in the
management of the insBtudon for the past two years prior to the aforemenBoned acoon, it will
not be treated as a change of ownership. A change from for-profit to not-for-profit consétutes a
change of ownership. A change from a sole proprietorship to a corporaon consétutes a change
of ownership.

Not-For-Profit Corpora®on and OrganizaBons Other Than Corporadons: A change of control
occurs when 50% or more of the members of the governing board change or 50% or more of
the controlling par6es change. The membership of record with the Council for the board or
controlling parBes is the membership at the ®me candidacy is granted or approval is granted
following a change of control. A change from not-for-profit to for-profit consetutes a change of
control.

IMPORTANT: A moratorium will be placed on the acceptance of, processing, and approval of ALL
substan®©ve changes beginning 6 months prior to the scheduled dates of accreditaBon team visits through
the date the Commission grants iniBal accreditaBon or rea  rmadon of accreditaon. Also, ins6tudons in
candidate status are not permiZed to apply for approval of substan®ve changes of any kind.

The procedures defined by the Commission for approval of a change of ownership or control of an ins6tuéon
are described below.

A.

Change of Legal Ownership or Control of Total Ins6tuon

Accredita®on does not transfer with a change of ownership or control of an ins6tudon. The
insBtudon must noBfy the Commission in a leXer sent by cerbfied mail or other signature-
required delivery service at least seven days prior to a change of ownership or control. Upon
legal change of ownership or control and if the ins©tubon desires to be accredited, a completed
ApplicaBon for Change of Ownership or Control and cashier’s check for the applicaBon fee must
be received in the Council o ce by the Execu6ve Director within 14 days. The applicaBon must
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include the insBtuBon’s audited financial statements prepared by an independent cer6fied
public accountant for the two most recent fiscal years. It must also include the purchaser’s
audited financial statements prepared by an independent cerffied public accountant for the
two most recent fiscal years. In addifon, the purchaser must submit an audited balance sheet
prepared by an independent cerbfied public accountant for the ins6tuBon as of the date of
purchase to be received in the Council o  ce within 30 days aOer the closing date. Financial
statements shall adhere to Generally Accepted Accounng Principles (GAAP) and shall be
prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Government Audiong Standards (GAGAS).

AQeran o cial noSficaBon of a change of ownership or control is received from an ins8tudon,
no substanBve change approvals will be granted for pending applica®ons, nor will new
applicaBons for substanBve changes be accepted.

At the ©me of the receipt of the ApplicaBon for Change of Ownership or Control, the
Commission considers the change in ownership or control final. In the event that, for any
reason, the ownership or control reverts back to the previous owner(s) or non-profit board/
controlling parBes, a new applicabon for candidate for accreditabon must be filed.

Upon receipt of the ApplicaBon for Change of Ownership or Control, the Execu6ve Director
shall review the applica®on and may request addiBonal documentadon. The Execu6ve Director
shall then refer the applicaBon to the Commission for review and acbon at its next meeeng. The
Commission reserves the right to require a preliminary visit to any ins6tudon prior to granéng
iniGal approval of a change of ownership or control.

An on-site visit will be conducted within 180 days aOer inial approval of the change of
ownership or control. A team (which may include a Commission representadve) will visit the
insetudon to verify the accuracy of informa6on provided by the ins6tubon in its substanbve
change applicaBon and to ensure that the ins6tuéon conénues to comply with the standards,
criteria, condigons, policies, and procedures of the Commission. The visiOng team will submit
awriZen report to the Execuéve Director within 30 days aOer comple®ng the site visit. A
copy of the visiOng team report will be transmiZed to the ins6tudon. The ins6tudon must
submit a response to all findings of non-compliance to be received in the Council o ce by the
Execuve Director within 30 days of the date that the report is transmiZed to the ins6tudon.
The ins6tubon’s response report, if required, must provide documentadon that deficiencies or
viola®ons of standards, criteria, and/or condiBons of accredita®on have been corrected.

Cost of the on-site visit will be borne by the ins6tudon. The Execu®ve Director will determine the
amount of the deposit for the team site visit that must be conducted.

IniBal approval for substan6ve changes will be revoked should the ins6tudon fail to host any
required site visit within 180 days from the e ecBve date of inial approval. The ins6tudon will
then be placed on the next Commission agenda for consideraBon of adverse acBon and penal©es

may apply.
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The Commission will review the applicaBon, financial statements, team report, and the
insBtudon’s response report, if required, and will make a final decision on the change of
ownership or control at the next Commission meeBng. Should the ins6tubon be denied approval
of the change of ownership or control, candidate or accredited status is terminated. The
ins@tudon may appeal the decision in accordance with procedures specified by the Commission.
If the final decision of the Commission is for accreditaBon to be reinstated, the Commission may
require the new owner(s) and/or chief administrabve o cer to aZend the next accreditadon
workshop held by the Council.

B. Change of Ownership or Control of a Branch or Extension

If an insBtuBon sells or otherwise disposes of a branch or extension, the accreditaBon of the
branch or extension will be disconenued simultaneously with the sale or disposal acGon that
results in a change of ownership or control. If an accredited ins6tuBon acquires a branch or
extension and wishes to connue to operate it as a branch or extension, the procedures required
to establish a new branch or extension shall be followed. Should the new owner or non-

profit board wish to make the branch or extension an accredited main campus, it must make
applicadon for candidate for accreditadon.

C.  Change of Ownership or Control of Candidate for Accreditabon

InsBtudons granted candidacy for accreditaBon may not change ownership or control while in
candidate status.

D.  Par6al Change of Ownership or Control

If a parBal change of ownership or control (i.e., less than 50%) occurs for a candidate or
accredited ins6tudon, the Commission must be informed within the ®me periods prescribed
below:

() If less than 50% of the assets of a for-profit corporaBon are transferred to another
person, no6ficaBon of the transfer must be received in the Commission 0 ce at least 30
calendar days before the date that the transfer occurs.

(i) If fewer than 50% of the members of the governing board or 50% of the controlling
par6es of a not-for-profit organiza®on or organizabon other than a corporadon change,
nodficabon of the change must be received in the Commission o  ce within 14 calendar
days aOer the date that the change occurs.

REFERENCE: Handbook of Accreditation: 2017 Edition, pages 32 and 37
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CHANGE OF LOCATION

A change of locabon is defined as a physical relocaBon of an exiseng main, branch, extension campus, or
instrucOonal service center within the insBtubon’s service area.

An insBtubon desiring to relocate a main, branch, extension campus, or instruconal service center must
submit an applicaBon to the Commission for iniBal approval at least 90 days prior to the change of locaBon
unless the move is an unplanned relocaBon, thereby cons6tuéng an unplanned substanve change. An
applicaBon for a change of locaBon will not be accepted un@l any substanbve changes requiring a site visit
have been granted final approval. The applica6on shall include the following:

1. RaBonale for change of locadon.

2. DocumentaBon of planning that took place including minutes, long-range plan, annual
report, needs assessment, and other relevant documentadon.

3. Distance of new locaBon from the old locaBon, and whether the new locadon is within the

same service area. (Service area is defined as the conBguous geographical area surrounding
the insBtuBon from which the insBtuBon expects to a>ract students and serve employers.)

4, Budget to include major categories such as administrabon, instruconal programs, personnel
salaries, plant maintenance, lease or rent of building, insurance, custodial services, and
security service. (Provide projected revenue, expenditures, and cash flow.)

5. Plan for accommodafng students (to include teach-out agreements made with other
insBtudons or agencies as well as refunds to students not wishing to relocate).
6. InformaBon concerning programs to be o ered at new locaBon. (A New Program Applicadon

for each new program and/or Change in ExisBng Program ApplicaBon for any program to be
changed in length or content must be submized.)

7. Single line drawing with dimensions of faciliBes to be used with each area idenéfied.

8. Copy of license, if required, indica®ng the new locaon’s address.

9. Copy of lease agreement, if applicable.

10. Copy of applicable insurance.

11. Check for $1,000 Change of Loca6on fee.

Upon receipt of all of the above documents, the Execu6ve Director shall review the applicaon and may
request addional informadon. The Execu®ve Director shall then refer the applicabon to the Commission for
review and acbon at its next meeong. The Commission reserves the right to require a preliminary visit to the
insetudon prior to gran©ng iniBal approval of the change of locadon.

Failure to provide advance no6ficabon may call into quesbon the en6re insBtudon’s accreditadon.

IMPORTANT: A moratorium will be placed on the acceptance of, processing, and approval of ALL
substan®ve changes beginning 6 months prior to the scheduled dates of accreditaBon team visits through
the date the Commission grants iniBal accreditaBon or rea  rma6on of accreditaon. Also, ins6tudons in
candidate status are not permiZed to apply for approval of substan®ve changes of any kind.
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Within 180 days aOer the new locaBon is granted iniBal approval, an on-site visit will be conducted to the
new locaBon. The visiong team (which may include a Commission representadve) will verify the accuracy
of informaBon provided by the insBtuBon in its substanBve change applicaBon and consider the adequacy
of the new locaBon. The visiBng team will submit a wrizen report to the Execudve Director within 30 days
aOer comple©ng the site visit. A copy of the team report will be mailed to the ins6tuon. The insGtuon
must submit a response to all findings of non-compliance to the Execuve Director within 30 days of the
date that the report is mailed to the ins&tudon. The insBtudon’s response report, if required, must provide
documentadon that deficiencies or violaBons of standards, criteria, and/or condi®ons of accredita®on have
been corrected.

Cost of the on-site evaluadon will be borne by the insBtudon. The Execubve Director will determine the
amount of the deposit for the team site visit that must be conducted.

IniGal approval for substanBve changes will be revoked should the ins6tudon fail to implement the change or
host any required site visit within 180 days from the e ecBve date of iniBal approval. The ins&tuon will then
be placed on the next Commission agenda for consideraBon of adverse acGon and penal©es may apply.

The Commission shall review the applica®on, the team report, and insBtuBonal response, if required, and
will make a final decision on the change of locaBon at its next mee6ng.

REFERENCE: Handbook of Accreditation: 2017 Edition, pages 32 and 38
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PROCEDURES REQUIRED TO ESTABLISH A NON-MAIN CAMPUS SITE
(Branch, Extension, InstrucGonal Service Center, Extended Classroom)

The di erent types of non-main campus sites are defined in the Handbook of AccreditaBon. Refer to those
definiBons to determine the appropriate type of applicaBons required for approval.

An insBtuBon must submit an applicaBon when planning to establish a new non-main campus site at

least 90 days prior to becoming opera6onal. ApplicaBons for new sites will not be accepted unél any
substanBve changes requiring a site visit have been granted final approval or unel the Commission has
granted iniBal accreditaBon or rea rmadon of accredita®on following an accreditaBon team visit. Failure to
provide advance no6ficaBon may call into quesdon the enbre insbtubon’s accreditabon. Failure to submit
applicaons in a ©mely manner may delay approval.

Upon receipt of a completed applicabon, the Execuve Director shall review the applica®on and may request
addiGonal documentadon. The ExecuBve Director shall then refer the applicabon to the Commission for
review and acOon at its next mee®ng. The Commission reserves the right to require a preliminary visit to any
poten6al site prior to graneng inidal approval.

The approval process for new sites shall include, but is not limited to, a thorough review of programs,
financial resources, physical resources, human resources (administrabon and management), of both the
main campus and the new site. Branch campuses must meet, at a minimum, all criteria of Standard 10 —
Student Services and Acbvibes.

Failure to provide advance noBficaBon may call into ques©on the enre insBtudon’s accreditadon.

IMPORTANT: A moratorium will be placed on the acceptance of, processing, and approval of ALL
substanBve changes beginning 6 months prior to the scheduled dates of accreditaBon team visits through
the date the Commission grants iniBal accredita®on or rea rma6on of accreditabon. Also, insBtuons in
candidate status are not permiZed to apply for approval of substan®ve changes of any kind.

Within 180 days aOer the new site is granted iniGal approval, an on-site visit will be conducted at the new
site and the main campus. New sites being considered for final approval must be in full operaBon with
students a>ending prior to hoseng an on-site visit. If the site campus being considered is not in full operaGon
with students aZending within 180 days from the e ecOve date of inial approval, ini®al approval of the

site will be rescinded. The visiBng team (which may include a Commission representa®ve) will consider the
adequacy of the site and its poten6al impact on the ins6tuon as a whole. The visit will verify the accuracy of
informa®on provided by the ins6tuBon in its substanbve change applica®on and that the addi®onal locabon
has the personnel, facilibes, and resources it claims to have in its applicaBon for approval of the addional
locadon. (InformaBon contained in the applicaBon also contributes to making this determinadon.)

IniBal approval for substanBve changes will be revoked should the ins6tudon fail to host any required site

visit within 180 days from the e ecEve date of iniBal approval. The ins6tuéon will then be placed on the next
Commission agenda for consideraGon of adverse acon and penal©es may apply.
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The visiBng team will submit a wriZen report to the ExecuBve Director within 30 days aOer comple&ng the
site visit. A copy of the visiBng team report will be mailed to the ins6tubon. The insBtudon must provide
the Commission with a response for any findings of non-compliance in the team report within 30 days of the
date that the report is mailed to the ins6tuon. Iden6ficabon of deficiencies documented during the visit
may result in the insBtudon’s being placed on special status (warning, probadon, or show cause) or losing

its accreditabon. Cost of the on-site evalua®on will be borne by the ins6tudon. The Execu6ve Director will
determine the amount of the deposit for the team site visit that must be conducted.

The insBtubon’s response report, if required, must provide documentadon that deficiencies or violaBons of
the standards, criteria, and/or condiBons of accreditaBon have been corrected. The Commission will review
the applicabon, the team report, and ins6tudonal response, if required, at its next meedng and will make a
final decision on extending accreditaon to include the new site.

REFERENCE: Handbook of Accreditation: 2017 Edition, pages 32 and 35
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PROCEDURES REQUIRED FOR APPROVAL OF A CHANGE OF SCOPE:
IniBal Associate Degrees and New OccupaBonal Areas

A change of scope is defined as any instance in which an insetuBon departs significantly from its mission in
regard to the occupadonal areas for which it 0 ers prepara®on or when it seeks to o er its first applied
associate degree program.

IMPORTANT: A moratorium will be placed on the acceptance of, processing, and approval of ALL
substan®ve changes beginning 6 months prior to the scheduled dates of accreditaBon team visits through
the date the Commission grants ini©al accreditaBon or rea rmadon of accreditaBon. Also, insBtudons in
candidate status are not permiZed to apply for approval of substan®ve changes of any kind.

Approval for IniBal Associate Degree Programs

InsBtudons seeking approval to o er the first (iniBal) associate degree program must submit an applicaBon
for review and acon by the Commission.

Associate degree programs must demonstrate compliance with all applicable condi®ons, standards, and
criteria specified in the Handbook of Accreditadon.

Approval for AddiGon of New OccupaBonal Areas of Instrucon

InsBtudons must submit a di erent applica®on when planning to add a new occupaBonal area for which
instrucOon will be provided by an ins6tudon. This applica®on must be accompanied by a new program
applicaBon from the occupaBonal area resulong in the ins6tuBon’s change in programmabc scope.

ApplicaBon Review and Approval Process

ApplicaBons for substanBve changes will not be accepted unél any pending substanve change applicaBons
requiring a site visit have been granted final approval by the Commission or unél the ins6tudon has been
granted iniBal accreditaBon or rea rmadon of accredita®on by the Commission following an accreditaBon
visit.

Upon receipt of a completed applicaBon for changes of scope described herein, the Execubve Director shall
review the applicaBon and may request addi®onal documentadon. The Execubve Director shall then refer
the applicaBon to the Commission for review and acBon at its next mee6ng. The Commission reserves the
right to require a preliminary visit to any ins6tuon prior to granéng inidal approval.

Within 180 days aOer the change of scope is granted iniBal approval, an on-site visit will be conducted at
all locaBons where the instrucon occurs. Prior to hosbng the on-site visit, the ins6tubon must have fully
implemented the change of scope, and students must be enrolled in the program(s) described in the scope
change applicaBon. If the change of scope being considered is not in full opera®on with students azending
within 180 days from the e ec6ve date of iniBal approval, iniBal approval of the change will be rescinded.
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All costs related to site visits for approval of substan®ve changes (including preliminary visits, if required)
will be borne by the ins6tuBon. The Execubve Director will determine the amount of the deposit required to
apply toward team visit expenses.

The visiBng team (which may include a Commission representa®ve) will verify the accuracy of informa6on
provided by the ins6tudon in its applicaon and will consider the adequacy of the program’s instrucéon and
resources as well as its potenBal impact on the insBtudon as a whole. The visiong team will submit a wrizen
report to the ExecuBve Director within 30 days aOer comple6ng the site visit. A copy of the visiBng team
report will be transmiZed to the ins6tuBon. The insBtudon must provide the Commission with a response for
any findings of non-compliance stated in the team report within 30 days of the date the report is transmiZed
to the ins6tudon. Iden6ficabon of deficiencies documented during the visit may result in the ins6tudon
being placed on special status (warning, probadon, or show cause) or losing its accreditadon.

The ins6tubon’s response report, if required, must provide documentadon that deficiencies or violaBons of
standards, criteria, and/or condiBons of accreditabon have been corrected. The Commission shall review the
applicaBon, the team report, and insBtuBonal response, if required, at its next mee®ng and will make a final
decision on extending accreditadon to include the change of scope.

REFERENCE: Handbook of Accreditation: 2017 Edition, page 33
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PROCEDURES REQUIRED FOR APPROVAL OF
CHANGES IN EXISTING PROGRAMS

The Council defines a change in an exisBng program previously approved by the Commission as one that:

(1) Increases or decreases the length required for comple®on of the program and award
of a creden®al; and/or,
(2) Changes the method of instruc6onal delivery for the program

These changes must be reported to and approved by the Commission no later than 90 working days prior to
the change taking place. The process for review and approval di er depending on the degree to which the
changes a ect the length of a program and its method of delivery and are detailed below.

IMPORTANT: A moratorium will be placed on the acceptance of, processing, and approval of ALL
substanBve changes beginning 6 months prior to the scheduled dates of accreditaBon team visits through
the date the Commission grants iniBal accredita®on or rea rma6on of accreditabon. Also, insBtuons in
candidate status are not permiZed to apply for approval of substan®ve changes of any kind.

Increase/Decrease in Length of Less than 25%

Changes made to programs that result in an increase or decrease of less than 25% of the total hours required
for comple®on of the program and an award of a creden®al previously approved by the Commission must be
reported to the Commission through an applicadon.

The applicaBon requires the instudon report, course by course, the specific changes made in the curriculum
as well as the submission of copies of all applicable local, state, and/or federal level approvals (if required),
an applicadon fee, and other supporéng documentadon specified in the form.

Substan6ve changes of this type are reviewed by the sta . Approval for the change may be granted by the
Execuve Director, or the review and approval may be referred to the Commission for acoon. All changes
approved by the Execuve Director are subject to final approval by the Commission.

Increase/Decrease in Length of 25% or More and Changes in InstrucBonal Delivery Methods

Changes made to programs that result in an increase or decrease of greater than 25% of the total
hours required for compleBon of the program and an award of a creden®al previously approved by the
Commission, and those that change the method of instruc®onal delivery for programs, are considered
substan®al in nature and must be reported to the Commission through an applicaon.

One applicaBon is used to report changes in length and/or changes in delivery methods. The applicaBon
requires the insBtuBon report, course by course, the specific changes made in the curriculum and/or
instrucoonal delivery method (if applicable), as well as the submission of copies of all applicable local, state,
and/or federal level approvals, if required, an applicaBon fee, and other supporéng documentadon specified
in the form.
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Substan©ve changes in length of programs (increases of 25% or more) are reviewed by the sta , but approval
is granted only by the Commission.

If the program is to be delivered to any degree via distance educa®on delivery methods, and the ins6tuéon
has not been previously approved to o er instruc6on via distance educadon, an applicaBon for approval of
InsGtubonal Distance EducaBon must be submiZed. Ins6tuBonal approval is required only once. Approval
for changing the delivery mode of instrucOon will not be issued un@l the Ins6tubonal Distance Educaon
applicaon has been approved by the Commission. Exemp6on: Ins6tuons o ering Commission-approved
distance educadon instrucon prior to July 1, 2007 are not required to file the applica®on for approval of
InsBtuonal Distance Educadon.

InsBtudons that seek approval for the first (iniBal) program that includes a distance educaBon mode of
delivery — whether it is Hybrid or Distance EducaBon AND that is also currently-approved by the Commission,
requires a virtual visit within 180 days of ini6al approval. The Commission must grant both iniBal approval

of the applica®on and final approval aOer the site visit has been performed. (NOTE: Approval for inifal
programs with a distance educaBon mode of delivery may require a physical site visit as well; therefore, a
$3000 deposit for a physical site visit may be required by the Commission.)

Approval for an insetudon’s subsequent conversion of a currently-approved Tradi®onal Program to a Hybrid
Program where the ins6tudon is approved to o er Distance Educa®on by the Council may be ini6ally
approved by the ExecuBve Director, or may be referred to the Commission for review and acoon. Also, the
Commission may require a virtual visit prior to approval. Virtual visits, if required, will take place within 180
days of iniBal approval. The Commission will grant final approval.

Approval for an insetudon’s subsequent conversion of a currently-approved Tradi®onal or Hybrid program
to a full Distance Educa®on program may be approval by the Execu6ve Director, or it may be referred to the
Commission for acGon. A virtual visit will follow within 180 days of iniBal approval. The Commission will
grant final approval.

It is important, when considering changes to distance educadon delivery methods, to note that the
Commission’s eligibility requirements specify that ins6tudons must ublize a campus-based instrucoonal
delivery system with at least 50 percent of the ins6tuBon’s total FTE being derived from enrollments in
tradiBonal programs.

Failure to implement approved substan6ve changes within 180 days of the e ecBve date of approval will
result in the revocaBon of the iniBal approval of the change. Inial approval of the change may also be
revoked if, when required, an insétuéon fails to host a site visit. If this occurs, the ins6tuéon will be placed
on the next Commission agenda for consideradon of adverse acéon and penalfes may apply.

REFERENCE: Handbook of Accreditation: 2017 Edition, page 33
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PROCEDURES REQUIRED FOR APPROVAL OF
INSTITUTIONAL DISTANCE EDUCATION DELIVERY

Standard Two — Educa®onal Programs, as presented in the Handbook of Accreditadon, applies to all
programs o ered by member ins©tudons regardless of their mode of delivery. The Council does not accredit
insBtudons that o er instrucOon via correspondence educadon.

InsBtubons engaged in or invesBgadng the possibility of o ering instrucOon via distance educabon must
maintain compliance with the Council’s eligibility requirements and other condiBons applicable to candidacy
and accreditaBon as printed in the latest ediBon of the Handbook of AccreditaBon.

IMPORTANT: A moratorium will be placed on the acceptance of, processing, and approval of ALL
substanBve changes beginning 6 months prior to the scheduled dates of accredita®on team visits through
the date the Commission grants iniBal accreditaBon or rea  rma6on of accreditaon. Also, ins6tudons in
candidate status are not permiZed to apply for approval of substanBve changes of any kind.

Contracts for instrucGon are common in programs o ered via distance educaBon. However, accredited
insBtudons must maintain compliance with the Commission’s condi©ons regarding contractual agreements.
Further informaBon on contractual arrangements may be found in the latest edi6on of the Handbook of
AccreditaBon and in these Policies and Rules.

A InsBtudonal Distance Educabon Approval

Applying for approval to begin distance educadon instrucbon involves comple©ng an Instubonal Distance
EducaBon applicabon. This applicaBon addresses applicable criteria in the standards regarding technical
infrastructure, ®meliness of faculty responses to students, and privacy and security, among other concerns.
Ins6tudonal Distance EducaBon approval is required only once. A fee of $1,000 is due with submission of the
applicadon.

Approval of InsBtudonal Distance Educa®on applicaBons will require a virtual visit and may involve a physical
site visit as well. Site visits will be conducted within 180 days aOer ini6al approval is granted. The applicaBon
is reviewed by the Commission for final approval.

Once an insBtuBon receives Insétubonal Distance Educadon approval, applicaBons for programs with a
distance educadon delivery method will be considered. Distance educa®on program applicabons may be
submiZed in conjuncBon with the Ins6tubonal Distance Educabon applicaon.

B. Hybrid Programs
Applying for approval to begin distance educa®on instrucbon involves compledng an Ins6tuonal Distance
EducaBon Approval applicaBon. Once InstuBonal Distance Educaon approval is granted, ins6tudons may

apply for approval to o er hybrid programs (where less than 50% of required hours are available via distance
educadon).
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If an insBtuBon’s iniBal program o ering that includes a distance educadon delivery method is a hybrid
program (where less than 50% of required hours are available via distance educaéon), the insétudon is
required to submit the appropriate program applicaBon for approval. A virtual visit will be made and a
physical site visit may be made as well. The Execu6ve Director shall review the applica®on and may request
addieonal informaBon. The Execubve Director shall then refer the applicaBon to the Commission for review
and approval.

A site visit will be conducted within 180 days aOer ini6al approval is granted. The applicaBon is reviewed by
the Commission for final approval.

C. Distance Educabon Programs

Once InsBtuBonal Distance Educabon approval is granted, approval for a distance educaBon program o ering
(where 50% or more of required hours are available via distance educadon) requires submission of the
appropriate program applicadon. A virtual visit will be made and a physical site visit may be made as well.
The Execu6ve Director shall review the applica®on and may request addi®onal informadon. The Execubve
Director shall then refer the applicaBon to the Commission for review and approval.

A site visit will be conducted within 180 days aOer iniBal approval is granted. The applicaSon is reviewed by
the Commission for final approval.

REFERENCE: Handbook of Accreditation: 2017 Edition, page 33
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Special Requirements for Monitoring Ins6tuBonal Growth

A.  Full-Time Equivalent

COE monitors increases in total Full-Time Equivalent (FTE) of candidate and accredited ins6tudons by
requiring reports from ins6tuéons when triggered increases occur. An ins8tudon must submit a formal
noBce to the Commission if the insGtuGon has an overall increase in FTE of 25 percent or more of an
established baseline. The baseline for each twelve-month period is the FTE calculaBon reported in the

most recent annual report. When an increase of 25 percent or more is achieved, a formal noBce must be
submiZed to the Commission within 30 days. This no8ce must include raBonale for the increase as well as
specific data on enrollment in all programs and for all campuses that experienced significant growth involved
in the increase of total ins6tudonal FTE. ConBnued reporéng of enrollment data by program will be required
unel the submission of the next ins6tuBonal annual report.

B. Gross Revenue for Non-Public Instuéons

Addieonally, COE considers increases in gross revenue an indicator of insetuéonal growth. Non-public
insBtudons that experience increases in gross revenue of 100% or more from the previous year must submit
a detailed explana®on of the increase to the Commission along with a financial report (which may be
internally generated) that demonstrates the increase. The explanaBon and financial report must be
submiZed to the Commission within 30 days aOer the experienced increase. An ins8tudon that fails to no6fy
the Commission on a ©mely basis when required due to an increase in gross revenue is subject to fees and
penalBes per the Handbook of AccreditaBon.

REFERENCE: Handbook of Accreditation: 2017 Edition, page 40
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Contractual Agreements

The role of contractors hired by candidate/accredited ins©tuGons must exclude the authority to make o cial
decisions for the insBtuGon or to serve in the role of accredita®on liaison o cer for the instuon.

A. Contracts for Recruiong and Consul®ng Services

An accredited insBtuBon that enters into a contract for recruiong or consuléng services with any agency,
corporadon, insétudon, or individual must submit a copy of the contract and an o cial no6ficaBon form to
the Execu®ve Director.

Each contract must include a condiBonal statement s6puladng that the contract is not binding in the event
that acBviBes involved in the contract prevent the member school from complying with the standards,
criteria, and condi®ons adopted by the Council.

The Commission will review all submissions. The Commission may determine that a third-party review of
applicaBons and contracts be performed. In this case, a fee to cover the cost of the third-party review will

apply.
B. Contracts for Instrucéon

The Commission classifies contracts for instrucBon with external en66es as substanbve changes. External
enbbes are defined as agencies, corporadons, insetudons, or individuals. These external en66es may or may
not be cer6fied to parBcipate in Title 1V, HEA programs.

Accredited insBtubons that are eligible to par6cipate in Title IV Financial Aid programs shall not contract
more than 25 percent of the instruc®on of one or more of its programs with an external enéty, whether or
not that en6ty is cer6fied to parBcipate in Title IV, HEA programs.

An accredited ins6tubon that negoBates a contract for instrucGon with any external enbty must submit an
applicaBon and a copy of the contract to the Execu6ve Director before entering into such an agreement.

All parBes to such contracts must meet the standards, criteria, and condi®ons adopted by the Council. Any
0 -campus instruc6on must maintain documenta®on that such acovibes are in compliance.

Each contract must include a condiBonal statement s6puladng that the contract is not binding in the event
that any circumstances with the contractor prevent the member school from complying with the standards,
criteria, and condi®ons adopted by the Council.

An educaBonal program to be taught under a contract must have state approval even though it is not
intended to be taught at the main or other campuses.
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The ExecuBve Director will seek a third-party review for all applicaBons and contracts submized. (A fee to
cover the cost of the third-party review will apply.) The Commission reserves the right to conduct an on-
site visit to the insBtudon or other sites that may be involved in the contract prior to granng approval.
The Commission will then review the applica®on, the contract, third-party comments, and site visit report
(if required) and will make a decision whether or not to approve or deny the submission or to request
addieonal informadon.

REFERENCE: Handbook of Accreditation: 2017 Edition, page 42
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Complaints
COMPLAINT PROCEDURES OF THE COMMISSION

The procedures to be followed by the Commission on complaints concerning alleged injus©ces or unethical
pracEces by applicants, candidates, and accredited ins6tuons will depend upon the nature of the charges
and the documentabon submized.

A complaint may be defined as any formal noBficaBon provided to the Commission alleging violaBons of the
standards, criteria, condions, policies, and/or procedures of the Commission. A complaint may be brought
against an ins@tudon by one or more par6es, including students, instructors, administrators, state or federal
agencies, employers, vendors, another ins6tuon, or others. A complaint may also take the form of a lien,
lawsuit, disciplinary acon, negabve acbon by another accrediong body or a regulatory agency or board, or
a decision of a criminal or civil court. Complaints that do not relate to the Commission’s standards, criteria,
condiBons, policies, and/or procedures are referred to the appropriate federal or state agency.

When a complainant is associated with an ins6tudon in some capacity and contacts the Commission in
person or by telephone, the complainant is asked whether insétubonal grievance procedures have been
followed. If not, it is recommended to the complainant that he or she do so prior to making a formal
complaint to the Commission. The complainant is also told to submit the complaint in wriéng, to address the
complaint specifically to the Commission, and to include any supporéng documenta®on. The complaint must
be signed and must provide the name and mailing address of the complainant.

The Commission may review any oral or wrien complaint that alleges a safety or health problem at a
candidate or accredited ins6tuon.

A. Wrizen Complaints

The Commission considers and processes all wriZen and signed complaints regarding applicant, candidate,
and accredited ins6tubons. All complaints received by the Commission are acknowledged by wrizen reply
to the complainant upon receipt. Complainants are requested to furnish addi6onal informadon that will
substanBate the allegaBons set forth within 14 days of the date of the leZer of acknowledgment from the
Commission. The acknowledgment leZer also informs the complainant (when associated with the insBtudon)
that it is assumed he or she has exhausted the grievance procedures of the ins6tudon prior to submitng the
complaint.

B. Grievance Cerfficabon
A Complaint Cer6ficabon form is sent along with the acknowledgment leZer to the complainant. This
form is completed and aZests either that all grievance procedures have been exhausted, or that grievance

procedures have not been followed due to reasons stated on the form. The form is signed, dated, and
returned. (See Complaint Cer6ficaBon and sample leZers.) Uncer6fied complaints will not be processed.
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C. Ins6tubon NobBficabon

AQer receiving any addieonal informadon as requested from the complainant that substan6ates the
allegadons of the complainant, the complaint is sent to the ins6tudon requesdng that a wrizZen reply be
furnished to the Commission within 21 calendar days from the date of the leXer. The standard form leXer
informs the ins6tudon that the complaint, if true, may be a serious violabon of the Commission’s standards,
criteria, condi®ons, policies, and/or procedures and requires a reply with documenta®on that: (a) the
complaint has been resolved; (b) the complaint has no merit and documentaBon is 0 ered in support of this
posiBon; or (c) the complaint has merit and documentaBon is 0 ered to support changes that will eliminate
such complaints in the future. The ins6tuon is informed that the complaint, together with the ins6tudon’s
response, will be taken to the Commission for review and appropriate acéon. Documents submiZed by an
insBtudon in response to a complaint filed with the Council are subject to review only by the Commission
and the Council sta .

D. Commission Review

The Commission, or the Commission ExecuBve CommiZee acong on behalf of the Commission, then
determines whether the complaint has merit or not, and considers whether the insétuGonal response is
adequate. The Commission or the Commission Execubve CommiZee will then take appropriate acGon within
21 days which may include one or more of the following:

1. Resolu6on of the Complaint: A leXer informs both the complainant and the instuon that
the Commission believes the maZer to be resolved. The leZer to the insBtudon may contain a
stern warning that a similar complaint in the future will cause the ins6tuon’s accreditaon to
be in jeopardy. The resoludon of the complaint may be a result of aceng upon the merits of the
complaint and the ins6tuBonal response, or upon addi®onal informaBon obtained by sta and/
or a special evaluabon team.

2. Deferral of AcBon for AddiBonal InformaBon: The Commission or the Commission Execudve
CommiZzee may request addiBonal informa6on concerning the maZer either from the
insBtudon, the complainant, or other sources including state, federal, or accreditaBon agencies.

3. Deferral of AcBon for Site Visit: The Commission or the Commission Execubve CommiZzee may
request a focused review team to obtain addional facts from the complainant, the ins6tuéon,
and/or other agencies.

4. Placement of Ins6tubon on CondiBonal Status: When it appears that serious violaBons of
standards, criteria, condifons, policies, and/or procedures have occurred, the Commission or the
Commission Execubve CommiZee may immediately issue a NoBficaBon of Apparent Deficiency,
place the ins6tubon on Probabon status, or issue a Show Cause Order, which gives the ins6tuéon
30 calendar days to respond in wrieng. The no6ficaBon sets forth: (1) the parcular standard,
criterion, condi®on, policy, and/or procedure apparently violated; (2) the nature of the violaBon
as it relates to the standard, criterion, condi®on, policy, and/or procedure; and (3) the evidence
of the violaBon. The Commission or the Commission ExecuBve CommiZee may also place the
insBtudon on Warning status. NoBces of Probaon, Warning, and Show Cause status are sent
to all appropriate state, federal, and accredi®ng agencies with a request for any addional
informaBon from them concerning the ins6tubon. (This process also informs the agencies of
possible violaBons of federal or state law.)
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5. Removal of Condi6onal Status: When the Commission or the Commission Execubve CommiZee
receives documentafon that the ins6tuéon has complied with the requirements imposed upon
it as a result of the complaint, then the condiGonal status is removed and leZers are issued
to appropriate state, federal, and accredibng agencies announcing this acdon. Depending on
the nature of the situabon and compliance requirements, the complainant may or may not be
informed of this acon.

6. Severance of Its RelaBonship with the Ins6tubon: For serious unethical conduct, the Commission
or Execubve CommiZee may act to sever the Council’s relaBonship with the insétudon by issuing
a leXer dropping the ins6tudon from accredited or candidate status. A copy of this leZer is also
sent to appropriate state, federal, and accrediong agencies. If the ins6tudon is an applicant for
candidacy (having no actual candidate or accredited status with the Commission) and has been
found in serious violaBon of standards, criteria, or condions, the Commission may sever its
relaBonship by issuing a leer Denying the ApplicaBon with Cause and copying this leZer to the
appropriate state, federal, and accrediong agencies.

E. Due Process and Privacy Rights

In all instances, the Commission recognizes the rights of Due Process, the rights of Privacy and
Confiden6ality, and the rights of Appeal. Complainants and/or ins6tudons may request or be requested

to appear before the Commission. Such appearances, however, are for purposes of obtaining informadon
and are not adversarial; and, therefore, they do not bear the weight of law. Whenever there are indicabons
to the contrary, the Council’s general counsel advises the Commission as to next steps in dealing with the
maer.

F. Third Parbes

Although complainants may contact other agencies who in turn also submit copies of the complaint to the
Commission, it is the posi©on of the Commission to deal only with the complainant and the ins6tuon in
resolving the maZer. For this reason, third parBes are not necessarily informed regarding the acon of
the Commission unless specifically requested to do so. However, any condiBonal status imposed upon an
ins@tudon will result in certain agencies being noBfied as appropriate.

The Commission will not intervene on behalf of individuals in cases of disciplinary acBon or dismissal, or act
as a court of appeals in such maXers as admission, graduadon, fees, financial aid, and similar points of issue.

G. Legal Representadon
When a complainant or member insBtudon is represented by legal counsel, the azorney must allow the
client to submit material on his/her own behalf in wrieng or the lawyer will deal directly with the Council’s

general counsel. The Commission sta does not communicate in oral or wriZen form with aZorneys on
either side of an adversarial proceeding involving par6es other than the Commission.
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H. Commission Sta Perspectve

The Commission’s sta does not evaluate the merits of a complaint. What appears to be a frivolous or
arbitrary complaint may be so due to the inability of the complainant to convey in words the serious

nature of the allegaons. Even when the complaint appears to be a hoax or is vindicBve in nature, it is sent
immediately to the insGtuBon for response so that the ins6tudon can take whatever acoon is indicated.
Whenever the Commission receives a wrizen communica®on alleging improprie®es of any kind on the part
of a candidate or member insBtudon, the Commission believes the school should know about it.

l. Issues of Serious Public Concern

The Commission and sta have a keen responsibility to recognize and act upon emergency complaints.
When it appears that a complaint is of such magnitude or is of such a serious nature as to require immediate
acoon, the complaint may be taken directly to the Commission Execubve CommiZee or the Commission

via telephone conference call for review and appropriate acéon. When neither the Commission nor the
Commission Execu6ve CommiZee is in session, the ExecuBve Director may act on behalf of the Commission
in response to such an emergency situadon. Such maZers as front-page news stories involving alleged
improprieBes, for example, may require an immediate inquiry on the part of the Commission.

J. Complaints Against the Commission

If the Commission receives a formal wriZen complaint from a school regarding a COE Commissioner or
sta member, the Commissioner or sta member will be noBfied and given a copy of the complaint. The
Commissioner or sta member will be given an opportunity to respond to the complaint; however, a
response is oponal. The complaint and any response will be reviewed by the Execuve CommiZee in the
absence of the individual against whom the complaint was lodged, to determine what, if any, acéon is
appropriate or required.

K. Timeliness of Complaint Process

The Commission processes all wrizen and signed complaints (that also provide the complainant’s name and
address) alleging safety or health maZers immediately upon receipt. Members of the Commission Execuéve
CommiZee provide ©mely review and response and make recommendafons for resolving the compliant

or conenuing the review. The Commission azempts to resolve all complaints within 60 days. However, if
the Commission or Council sta requests addi®onal documentadon from either the complainant or the
insBtudon, addiBonal 6me may be required for the resolubon of the complaint.

REFERENCE: Handbook of Accreditation: 2017 Edition, page 43
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COMPLAINT CERTIFICATION
(Please Print or Type)

Name: Date:
Address:
Telephone (Home) ( ) (Work) ( )

Complaint Against (Name of Institution):

Address of Institution:

Have you contacted the institution and exhausted all grievance/complaint procedures,
including speaking with the director or chief executive officer prior to submitting your
complaint to outside agencies such as the Council on Occupational Education?

YES NO
If “NO”, please provide the reasons why you have not made every effort to resolve this
problem with institutional officials prior to requesting outside assistance. (Use the back of
this page if necessary.)

Attach any additional supporting documents/evidence to substantiate your claim.

| certify that the information presented above and attached hereto is true, accurate, and
complete to the best of my knowledge.

Signature of Complainant

Mail this completed form and all supporting documentation for receipt within 14 days of the
date of the enclosed letter of transmittal to the Council on Occupational Education, 7840
Roswell Road, Building 300, Suite 325, Atlanta, GA 30350.
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LETTER SENT TO COMPLAINANT
ACKNOWLEDGING RECEIPT OF COMPLAINT

(Date)

(Name of Complainant)
(Address)

Dear

This is to acknowledge that the Commission has received your complaint letter dated
concerning __(name of institution) . Your complaint will be reviewed
and appropriate action will be taken in accordance with the Commission’s standards and
policies.

The Commission requests verification that you have completed all steps of the complaint
procedure specified by the institution. If you have additional information or documentation
pertaining to this complaint, please forward it to me for receipt within 14 days of the date of
this letter along with the completed Complaint Certification form that is enclosed.

Thank you for bringing this matter to our attention. You will be informed of the action taken
by the Commission regarding your complaint.

Sincerely,

Gary Puckett
Executive Director
Commission of the
Council on Occupational Education

Enclosure

Policies and Rules of the Commission - 55



LETTER SENT TO INSTITUTION
WITH COPY OF COMPLAINT

(Date)

Via: Certified Malil

(Name of Chief Administrative Officer)
(Title)

(Institution Name)
(Address)

RE: Official Notification of Complaint Against __(name of institution, city, state)

Dear

Enclosed is a complaint in which certain allegations have been made regarding your
institution. These allegations are a serious matter and, if true, would be in violation of this
Commission’s standards, criteria, condition, policies, and/or rules.

The Commission must receive your written response to this complaint with any
documentation supporting your response within 21 calendar days of the date of this letter.
Your response, together with the complaint, will be taken before the Commission for
appropriate action.

Sincerely,

Gary Puckett
Executive Director
Commission of the

Council on Occupational Education

Enclosure
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Requirements Applicable to the Commission

GUIDELINES FOR ACTION ON INSTITUTIONS WITH COHORT DEFAULT RATES
THAT MEET TRIGGER LEVELS SPECIFIED BY THE U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION

Factors Considered To Establish Priori©es

Number of years triggered (one, two, three or more)

Number of students in repayment who have defaulted

Comple6on, placement, and licensure exam pass rates

Record of acBons taken by the Commission regarding the insétuéon, including

student complaints and placement on a status

Range of AcBons Directed by the Commission

Submission of a wrizZen report to the Commission that includes the following:
- copy of the insBtudon’s cohort default management plan
- descripbon of acbons taken to reduce cohort default rate
- status of any acBon taken by the U.S. Department of Educadon
- explanabon of student populaon served and any miBgaéng circumstances
- evidence of educaonal program evaluadon

AZendance at a Commission workshop on student financial aid management

Focused review visit to evaluate compliance with the standards, criteria, and
condions of the Council

Placement on warning or show-cause

Termina®on of accreditabon

REFERENCE: Handbook of Accreditation: 2017 Edition, page 45
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REVIEW OF ACCREDITATION STANDARDS

The Commission conducts an ongoing and systemagc review of its accreditaBon standards through feedback
sought from its consBtuents to determine if:

1.  The standards used by the Commission are adequate for the evaluabon of the quality of the educaon
or training provided by its member ins6tubons; and,

2.  The standards are relevant to the educadonal or training needs of students.

The Commission seeks input from its member ins©tudons as part of the insétuGonal annual reporéng
process. Commissioners are also peBooned for their input in evaluadng the standards through a web survey.

Input is sought from members of the public and poten6al employers of graduates through a survey available
on the Council’s web site. Poten©al employers are also solicited for their input during occupa®onal advisory
commiXzee meedngs conducted by ins6tudbons prior to hoséng accreditabon visiong teams.

State and federal authoriBes and other accrediOng agencies are contacted annually to encourage their
input in the evaluadon of the Council’s standards. These groups are also directed to use the survey available
through the Council’s web site.

The data collected from these e orts are reviewed each year by the Council CommiZee on AccreditaBon
Standards and Condifons.

REFERENCE: Handbook of Accreditation: 2017 Edition, page 49
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NON-DISCRIMINATORY POLICY OF THE COUNCIL

The Council does not discriminate on the basis of sex, race, color, naBonal origin, age, or disability in any of
its programs or acovioes.

Any individual who believes that he or she has been discriminated against because of his/her sex, race, color,
naoonal origin, age, or disability should immediately contact the Execu6ve Director, Dr. Gary PuckeZ, who is
the Council’s coordinator for Title IX compliance. Dr. PuckeX can be reached at 7840 Roswell Road, Building
300, Suite 325, Atlanta, Georgia 30350, (770) 396-3898, ext. 21.

Complaints alleging discriminaon on any of the above bases may also be made to:

The O ce for Civil Rights

U.S. Department of Educadon

Customer Service Team

Hotline # 1-800-421-3481 or (202) 205-5413
Fax # (202) 205-9862

TTY # (877) 521-2172

ocr@ed.gov

REFERENCE: Handbook of Accreditation: 2017 Edition, page 47
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CONFLICT OF INTEREST AND CONFIDENTIALITY POLICY

Purpose

The purpose of the Conflict-of-Interest and Confiden®ality Policy is to protect the Council on OccupaSonal
Educabon’s interest when it is carrying out its mission of assuring quality and integrity in career and
technical educafon. This policy is intended to supplement but not replace any applicable state laws
governing conflicts of interest or confiden®ality applicable to the Council on Occupa®onal Educabon as a
non-profit corporaBon organized under the laws of the State of Georgia.

Conflict of Interest

No member of the board of commissioners of the Council on Occupa®onal Educadon, (“COE” or “the
Council”) or any of its evaluaBon team members, consultants, appeal board members, or administradve sta
shall derive any personal profit or gain, directly or indirectly, by reason of his or her parfcipaBon with the
Council.

Each individual shall disclose to the Council any personal interest which he or she may have in any maZer
pending before the Council and shall refrain from par©cipaBon in any decision on such maZer. Any member
of the Commission, evaluaBon team, or an appeal board who isan o cer, board member, commiZee
member or sta of an ins©tudon that is accredited, a candidate for accreditabon or seeking accreditadon
from the Council shall iden®fy his or her a liaBon with the ins6tu6on and shall not parfcipate in any
decision a econg that ins6tudon by the Council.

Confiden®ality

The accreditaon of occupaGonal educadon ins6tudons by the Commission is an acOvity requiring a high
degree of trust, professional integrity, and confiden®ality. All materials reviewed by the Commission in its
role as the Board of Directors of COE or furnished to it, or to anyone with Commission-delegated powers, for
the purpose of accreditaBon reviews or other Council business are considered confiden®al informa6on. The
contents of those materials and the acBons taken by the Commission are to be disclosed on in accordance
with established communicaon protocols and no6ficaBon procedures set forth in COE’s governing
documents and SecBon V.A.4. of the AccreditaBon Manual.

Annual Statements

Each member of the Commission or administradve sta with Commission-delegated powers shall annually
sign a statement whicha rms that such person:

a. Hasreceived a copy of the Conflict-of-Interest and Confiden®ality Policy;
b. Hasread and understands the policy; and,
c. Hasagreed to comply with the policy.

Statements by Occurrence

Each member of evaluaBon teams, appeal boards, or consultants with Commission-delegated powers shall
sign a statement upon the occurrence of the Commission assigning such powers whicha rms that such
person:

a. Hasreceived a copy of the Conflict-of-Interest and Confiden®ality Policy;
b. Hasread and understands the policy; and,
c. Hasagreed to comply with the policy.
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ViolaBons of the Conflict-of-Interest and Confiden®ality Policy

If the Commission has reasonable cause to believe that a Commissioner, commiZee member, appeal board
member, evaluator, or administraBve sta member has failed to disclose actual or possible conflicts of
interest, it shall inform the individual of the basis for such belief and a ord the individual an opportunity to
explain the alleged failure to disclose.

If aOer hearing the response of the individual and undertaking such further inves8gadon as may be
warranted under the circumstances, the Commission determines that the individual has in fact failed to

disclose an actual or possible conflict of interest or failed to abide by the Council’s protocols on the

confidenBality of ins6tuBonal and/or Council informaBon, it shall take appropriate acBon consistent with the
by-laws of the Council on OccupaBonal Educadon.
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Policies and Rules Applicable to
AccreditaBon Standards, ObjecBves, and Criteria

References for policies and rules stated in this secon are given for the specific secBons where
they appear in the Handbook of Accreditation. The subsecOons that follow are consistent with
the order in which the topics appear in the Handbook.
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STANDARD SEVEN: FINANCIAL RESOURCES

REFUND POLICY

The Handbook of AccreditaBon states under Standard Seven - Financial Resources the following:

The ins6tubon shall have a fair and equitable refund policy for the refund of tuifon, fees, and other
insetuBonal charges in the event the ins6tuon cancels a class if a student does not enter or does
not complete the period of enrollment for which the student has been charged. All of the following
are elements of a fair and equitable plan:

a. TheinsBtudon’s refund policy must be published in the catalog and be uniformly
administered.
Refunds, when due, must be made without requiring a request from the student
c. Refunds, when due, shall be made within 45 days (1) of the last day of a>endance if wrizen
no6ficabon of withdrawal has been provided to the ins6tubon by the student, or (2) from
the date the ins6tuon terminates the student or determines withdrawal by the student.
d. Reten®on of tuiBon and fees collected in advance for a student who does not
commence class shall not exceed $100.
e. The insBtuBon must comply with the refund policies adopted by the Commission
unless adi erent policy is mandated by a non-public ins8tudon’s licensing agency or
a public insBtudon’s governing board.

As referenced in item “e” above, the refund policy adopted by the Commission is as stated below.

1. Refunds for Classes Canceled by the Ins6tubon
If tuiBon and fees are collected in advance of the start date of a program and the ins6tuéon
cancels the class, 100% of the tui®on and fees collected must be refunded. The refund shall be
made within 45 days of the planned start date.

2. Refunds for Students Who Withdraw On or Before the First Day of Class
If tuion and fees are collected in advance of the start date of classes and the student does
not begin classes or withdraws on the first day of classes, no more than $100 of the tui®on and
fees may be retained by the insBtuGon. Appropriate refunds for a student who does not begin
classes shall be made within 45 days of the class start date.

3. Refunds for Students Enrolled Prior to VisiBng the Insétubon
Students who have not visited the school facility prior to enroliment will have the opportunity to

withdraw without penalty within three days following either a>endance at a regularly scheduled
orientadon or following a tour of the facili©es and inspec6on of the equipment.
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4. Refunds for Students Enrolled in Professional Development, ConBnuing EducaBon, or Limited
Contract InstrucBon

InsBtudons engaging in programs which are short-term must have a wriZen policy or contract
statement regarding whether or not fees and instruc6onal charges are refundable.

5. Refunds for Withdrawal AQer Class Commences
(@) Public Insbtudons

The refund policy for students azending public ins6tuBons shall be consistent with
the policy established by the ins6tudon’s governing board.

(b)  Non-Public Ins6tuons
(1)  Refund Policy for Programs Obligabng Students for Periods of 12 Months or Less

The refund policy for students a>ending non-public ins6tudons who incur a financial
obliga®on for a period of 12 months or less shall be as follows:

(i)  During the first 10% of the period of financial obligaon, the ins6tudon shall
refund at least 90% of the tuion;

(i)  AQer the first 10% of the period of financial obligaBon and unél the end of the
first 25% of the period of obligaon, the ins6tudon shall refund at least 50% of
the tuiGon;

(iii)  AQer the first 25% of the period of financial obligaBon and unél the end of the
first 50% of the period of obliga6on, the ins6tudon shall refund at least 25% of
the tuiGon; and,

(iv)  AQer the first 50% of the period of financial obligaBon, the insétuon may
retain all of the tuion.

(2)  Refund Policy for Programs Obligabng Students for Periods Beyond Twelve Months

InsBtuBons with programs longer than 12 months that financially obligate the
student for any period of ©me beyond 12 months shall release the student of the
obligaBon to pay beyond the 12 months if the student withdraws during the first 12
months. The calculaon of the refund for the unused por6on of the first 12 months
shall be based on secon (b)(1) Non-Public Ins6tudons above.

If the student withdraws during any subsequent period following the first 12

months, the student’s refund for the unused por6on of the tuion applicable to the
period of withdrawal shall be based on secfon (b)(1) Non-Public Ins6tuGons above.
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DeviaBons from the requirements of this policy as stated above are permiZed if (1) mandated by a non-
public insBtudon’s licensing agency or a public insetubon’s governing board and (2) accepted by the
Commission.

REFERENCE: Handbook of Accreditation: 2017 Edition, page 68
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DEFINITIONS

Accreditation—A process by which quality is certified. As applied by the Commission, a self-regulatory
process by which the Commission recognizes educational institutions that have been found to meet or exceed
stated standards applicable to occupational education institutions and/or programs (quality-assessment).

Administration—The professional staff who provide formal leadership in an institution. The institutional
administrative staff includes the chief administrative officer and other personnel who perform the
administrative functions defined by institutional policy.

Administrator—A full- or part-time employee of an institution to whom has been given the responsibility of
coordinating operational and/or instructional activities of the institution.

Admission—The process through which a student is enrolled in an institution and/or placed into a
program.

Adverse Action—An action taken by the Commission or Appeal Board to deny, withdraw, suspend, revoke,
or terminate candidacy or accreditation.

Associate Degree—As defined in the Secretary of Education’s scope of recognition for the Council, the term
‘associate degree’ refers to an ‘applied’ program with a degree credential awarded upon completion that is
designed to lead the individual directly to employment in a specific career. The sole focus of associate degree
programs accredited by the Council must not be described as transferability to a program offering a bachelor’s
degree. Although the objective of this degree is to enhance employment opportunities, some bachelors’
degree institutions have developed upper-division programs to recognize this degree for transfer purposes,
and this trend is to be encouraged when appropriate. When articulation agreements with four-year institutions
do exist, those opportunities may be described in appropriate publications. However, institutions approved to
offer applied associate degree programs by the Council must take care not to guarantee the transferability of
credit to other institutions by way of the title of the programs or descriptions of the programs.

Audited Financial Statements—Financial statements prepared by an independent certified public
accountant in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP). The audit must be
performed in accordance with Generally Accepted Government Auditing Standards (GAGAS). The audited
financial statements must include, as a minimum, the following: (1) accountant’s report; (2) balance sheet; (3)
income statement; (4) statement of cash flow; and (5) appropriate footnotes to the financial statements and
other relevant disclosures. (Procedural Note: Financial statements submitted by candidate and accredited
non-public institutions must be accompanied by completed COE financial forms and must be received in the
COE office no later than six months following the date of the end of the institution’s fiscal year.)

Benchmark—A standard of excellence or achievement against which similar things must be measured or
judged. (Benchmarks for minimally-acceptable percentages of completion, placement, and licensure exam
pass rates can be found within the Council’s annual report software and on the Council’'s web site — www.

council.org.)

Budget—A financial plan that contains sufficient major categories of anticipated expenditures and expenses
for a specific fiscal period based on a projected amount of funds and revenues.

Candidacy/Candidate for Accreditation [Pre-accreditation]—A status granted to an institution that has

demonstrated compliance with specified eligibility requirements which define the universe of entities that may
seek accreditation by the Commission.
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Career Development—Professional development and skill enhancements necessary for individual growth
and lifelong learning.

Chief Administrative Officer—The administrative head of an institution to whom has been delegated major
responsibility for the direction, operation, and coordination of the institution’s programs and activities. The
chief administrative officer must be a full-time employee of the institution and must maintain his/her office on-
site at the main campus. This is the person who will be the Commission’s point of contact for all campuses of
the institution. The administrative head in a military institution is a senior military officer or civilian employee.

Clinical Instruction—Supervised instruction involving or concerned with the direct observation and treatment
of patients.

Clock Hour—A period of 60 minutes with a minimum of 50 minutes of instruction.

Co-Location—an arrangement between two legally separate educational institutions in which administration,

faculty, staff, websites, links to websites, telephone numbers, and/or facilities are shared. (This arrangement
excludes the contracts between separate institutions that result in instructional service centers or other
Commission-approved partnerships.)

Commission—The body of 19 elected members who serve as the governing board of the Council and its
accreditation decision-making board.

Competencies—The specialized knowledge, skills, and attitudes required for successful performance in a
specific occupation.

Competency Test—A group of questions and/or tasks to which a student responds to produce a quantitative
representation of the student’s knowledge, skill, and/or performance in a specific occupational area.

Completer—A student who has demonstrated the competencies required for a program and has been
awarded the appropriate credential (graduate completer) or has acquired sufficient competencies through
a program to become employed in the field of education pursued or a related field as evidenced by such
employment (non-graduate completer).

Condition—A process, status, or situation adopted by the Council with which an institution must comply in
order to become and maintain status as a candidate for accreditation or an accredited institution.

Constituency—The persons and, if applicable, entities that they represent who are to be served by an
institution through one or more of its educational programs.

Contingent Liability—A potential liability that may exist in the future depending on the outcome of a past
event (i.e., adverse tax court decisions, lawsuits, letter of credit required by the U.S. Department of Education,
etc.). In audited financial statements, footnote disclosure is required of the circumstances for potential loss.

Continuing Occupational Education—Educational activities or experiences designed to assist in the
development of knowledge and skills with the goal of maintaining one’s current professional occupation

(as opposed to advancing one’s career). Participants in continuing education are assumed to have previously
attained a basic level of education, training, or experience in the occupational area in which they are enrolling.
These activities are not included in the institutional self-study, FTE calculation, or student achievement data
collection, and are not required to be included on the COE approved program list. (See definition for Job
Upgrade Training.)

Contractor (Vendor)—A company or individual who provides goods and/or services to an institution for an
agreed upon price.
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Correspondence Education — Instruction delivered via e-mail or traditional mail service and that employs
print-based media which may or may not be supplemented with video tape, CDRom, audio tape instruction/
demonstrations, as well as online learning resources. Correspondence education requires minimal interaction
between instructor and student. (The Council does not accredit correspondence education programs.)

Council—The legal entity incorporated in the State of Georgia whose membership is all institutions
accredited by the Commission.

Course—Specific subject matter comprising part of a program for which instruction is offered within a
specified time period.

Credential—A diploma, certificate, degree, or other official acknowledgment by an institution that a student
has completed a program.

Credit Hour (Federal Definition)—Except as provided in 34 CFT 668.8(k) and (l), a credit hour is an amount
of work represented in intended learning outcomes and verified by evidence of student achievement that

is an institutionally established equivalency that reasonably approximates not less than: (1) One hour of
classroom or direct faculty instruction and a minimum of two hours of out of class student work each week

for approximately fifteen weeks for one semester or trimester hour of credit, or ten to twelve weeks for one
guarter hour of credit, or the equivalent amount of work over a different amount of time; or, (2) At least

an equivalent amount of work as required in paragraph (1) of this definition for other academic activities as
established by the institution including laboratory work, internships, practica, studio work, and other academic
work leading to the award of credit hours.

Criterion—A characteristic of an institution that must be possessed or demonstrated as evidence of
compliance with an accreditation standard.

Default Management Plan—A written plan to address the institution’s management of default rates
pertaining to Title IV funds. The plan must include appropriate procedures for:

1. Entrance interviews with all borrowers.

2. Distribution of appropriate written information which addresses provisions of the student loan
program.

3. Appropriate counseling on the part of the institution to provide guidance in debt management.

4. Appropriate notification to lenders and guarantee agency regarding a student’s change in status.

5. Appropriate exit interview process with students withdrawing or graduating from the institution.

6. Awritten procedure to communicate with the borrower during a grace period.

7. Asystematic annual evaluation of its default management plan.

Distance Education [Delivery Method) — Education that uses one or more of the technologies to deliver
instruction to students who are separated from the instructor; and support regular and substantive instruction
between students and the instructor, synchronously or asynchronously. Technologies used may include the
internet, print-based media, e-mail, one-way and two-way transmissions through open broadcast, closed
circuit, cable, microwave, broadband lines, fiber optics, satellite, or wireless communications devices; audio
conferencing; or video cassettes, DVD’s, and CD-ROMSs, if the cassettes, DVD's, or CD-ROMs are used in a
course in conjunction with any of the technologies listed.

Distance Education Program—a program that makes available 50% or more of its required instructional
hours via distance education.

Distance Education Student—a student who completes 50% or more of his/her required instructional hours
in a program via distance education.
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Educational Quality—Determined on the basis of (1) the appropriateness of institutional/program objectives
and (2) the effectiveness with which the institution/program is utilizing its resources to achieve these
objectives.

Eligibility Requirements—Requirements that define the kind of institution or program that an accrediting
agency considers a part of its universe and thus within the scope of accrediting activities for which the agency
assumes responsibility.

Emergency Evacuation—An emergency evacuation can include exiting the building in case of fire or moving
to a safe place inside the facility in case of natural disasters.

Employee—An individual hired by an institution and paid compensation in the form of an hourly wage or
annual salary. Employees of an institution are often eligible for additional benefits in the form of retirement,
paid vacation and other leave days, various types of insurances, etc. Employment taxes for these persons are
paid by the hiring institution. Equipment used for the performance of the employee’s duties is provided by the
hiring institution.

Enrollee—A person who is admitted to the institution and attends classes in pursuit of completing a program
for a minimum time period as specified by institutional policy. (For purposes of measuring outcomes, an
institution does not have to report a student as an enrollee if the institution refunds 100% of any tuition and
fees that the student may have paid.)

Equipment Inventory—A detailed list of equipment including location, number of items, date of purchase,
and purchase price and/or current value of each item. The list should include both instructional and non-
instructional equipment.

External Budgeting—A budgeting process that occurs beyond the immediate control of the individual
institution and that generally addresses the overall requirements of a multi-institutional system.

Faculty—Full- or part-time personnel of an institution who are responsible for providing instruction to
students.

Final Approval—The second of two required approvals granted by the Commission for certain substantive
changes upon the satisfactory completion of hosting a Council site visit (physical or virtual, in the case

of distance education applications) and review by the Commission of all documentation related to the
substantive change (the application, the site visit report, and the institution’s response to the site visit report —
if applicable).

Follow-Up—The act of making formal contact to obtain specified factual and/or perceptual information from a
particular person or group of persons.

Full-Time Equivalent (FTE) — a unit of measurement used by the Commission to define the amount of
scheduled instruction that equates to one full-time student during one academic year. The Commission
defines an FTE as 900 contact (clock) hours, 45 quarter credit hours, or 30 semester credit hours of
scheduled instruction. The clock or credit hours used to calculate an institution’s FTE must reflect coursework
in which a student has enrolled and matriculated. The FTE does not include hours or credits transferred from
other institutions or awarded as CLEP courses.

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP)—Requirements established by the American Institute
of Certified Public Accountants for use by auditors to prepare audited financial statements.
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Generally Accepted Government Auditing Standards (GAGAS)—Requirements established by the
federal government to be used by auditors and audit organizations when performing audits of government
organizations, programs, activities, and functions and audits of government funds received by for-profit
entities, non-profit organizations, and other non-government organizations.

Goals of the COE Accreditation Process—The significant values and major purposes to whose realization
the efforts of individuals and groups are directed.

Good Cause—The Commission may grant an extension of time for compliance with any of the conditions,
standards, criteria, or procedures with ‘good cause’. Good cause may be demonstrated through submission
of a clear and detailed explanation of extenuating circumstances that have prevented the institution from
demonstrating compliance within the timeframes specified by the Commission. Circumstances described
may include, but are not limited to, economic conditions of the community served by the institution, personnel
changes that have taken place within the institution, and natural disasters that have prevented timely
compliance. The Commission will determine whether or not institutions have demonstrated good cause on

a case-by-case basis. The Commission will take into consideration, not only the extenuating circumstances
described by the institution, but the institution’s history of compliance with conditions, standards, criteria,
and procedures of the Commission, as well as the institution’s standing with federal, state, and recognized
accrediting agencies.

Governing Body or Board—An appointed or elected group of individuals who are responsible for
establishing policies of the institution in compliance with applicable regulatory statutes.

Graduate—A student who has demonstrated the competencies required for a program and has been
awarded the appropriate credential by the institution.

Guidelines—Less prescriptive suggestions for operating or developing something.

Hybrid Program—a program that makes available 49% or less of its required instructional hours via distance
education.

Independent Certified Public Accountant—A person who fulfills the following requirements: 1) has been
certified by a state examining board as having fulfilled the requirements of state law pertaining to public
accountants as evidence by current credentials which attest to their certification; AND, 2) has no business or
family relationship with a COE candidate or accredited institution, its board members, or its owners.

Initial Approval—The first of two required approvals granted by the Commission for certain substantive
changes upon the satisfactory completion and review of the information provided in a substantive change
application. After initial approval is granted, Commission staff schedule physical or virtual site visits within 180
days that are required before the second required approval of the change — Final Approval — is granted. Upon
the granting of initial approval, institutions may begin full implementation of the change applied for and may
be eligible for approval for student financial aid funding as applicable to the change.

Institution—A school, center, unit, or other provider of occupational education.

Institutional Advisory Committee—A group of at least three persons, a majority being external to the
institution, who are knowledgeable of occupational education and employment needs of the community.
Through regularly scheduled and documented meetings, the committee provides consultative assistance to
the administration of the institution to ensure that the institution continually strives to meet the occupational
education needs of the community.

Instruction—Planned activities directed by an instructor for the purpose of enabling students to acquire
specific knowledge, skills, and/or attitudes. Instruction may be provided through lectures, laboratory or clinical
exercises, distance education, or planned work-based activities.
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Instructional Media—Any print or non-print learning resources (e.g., books, manuals, periodicals, computer
software, films, videotapes, audio tapes, slides, and others) and the equipment and services necessary to use
them.

Instructional Supplies—Items needed for instruction.

Instructional Support Staff—Full- or part-time personnel who are responsible for those tasks which directly
support the faculty.

Integrity—Wholeness or consistency between or among principles, intentions, and actions, and thus
uprightness of character.

Internal Budgeting—A budgeting process that occurs primarily at the level of the individual institution and
that addresses both instructional and non-instructional needs and daily operational requirements of the
institution.

Job Upgrade Training— Educational activities or experiences that are designed to enhance existing
knowledge and skills and that are offered with the goal of providing persons in specific occupations with

the credentials, knowledge, and skills needed for career advancement (as opposed to maintaining one’s
current professional occupation position). These activities are considered to be occupational programs

and are included in the institutional self-study, FTE calculation, and student achievement data collection
(completion data only), and must be included on the COE approved program list. (See definition for continuing
occupational education.)

Laboratory Instruction—An instructional setting in which students apply theories and principles learned
during lectures in order to acquire the proficiency and dexterity that is required in the occupation for which the
student is being prepared.

Lecture—Instruction by a qualified faculty member or other resource which imparts to students the concepts,
principles, and theories of an academic or technical subject.

Legal Authority—The power derived by an individual or group to perform specific functions based on
applicable local, state, and/or federal statutory regulations.

Legal Responsibility—The obligation and/or liability placed on an individual or group by applicable local,
state, and/or federal statutory regulations.

Merger—two or more accredited main campuses that merge into one campus; or, an accredited institution
becoming a branch of another accredited institution.

Mission of the Institution—The end to be attained by an institution through the programs and services
provided for its students. The mission of federal institutions shall be to instruct students to such competency
levels that they are qualified to perform federal jobs.

Non-Graduate Completer—A student who left the institution without a credential, but has acquired sufficient
competencies through a program to become employed in the field of education pursued or a related field as
evidenced by such employment. (See also: Graduate and Completer)

Non-Public Institution—An institution that is created, operated, and controlled by a non-governmental entity;
such as, a business corporation, a foundation, a religious organization, or a chartered association. (For the
purpose of applying applicable policies and rules contained in this manual, charter schools are required to
meet all conditions and criteria that apply to non-public institutions.)
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Objectives of COE Accreditation—Explication in more specific terms of ideas and activities inherent in the
aspects of the institution evaluated by the COE accreditation process, but not necessarily obvious or explicit
in the goals of COE accreditation.

Objectives of an Educational Program—A statement that specifies the knowledge, skills, and/or attitudes to
be acquired by students through planned instructional activities.

Objectives of a Strategic Plan—Objectives are specific in nature and consist of the following elements:

What will be accomplished

When it will be accomplished

Who is responsible for accomplishing it
How accomplishment will be measured

PwobPE

Occupational Advisory Committee—Occupational advisory committees, which are composed of at least
three members external to the institution, must be appointed for each program taught by the institution. Their
primary purpose is to ensure that desirable, relevant, and current practices of each occupation are being
taught. An occupational advisory committee may also perform the functions of the institutional advisory
committee if only one occupational advisory committee is required for the institution.

Occupational Area—A general term used to group programs of study that educate students in a variety of
specific concentrations that are related to that term.

Occupational Education Institution—An education institution that has as its mission the preparation of

individuals for employment and/or career enhancement. (The main campus or parent institution has a chief
administrative officer to whom each branch, extension, or other type of separate site is subordinate and
accountable. The institution recognizes individuals who acquire targeted knowledge, skills, attitudes, and

other competencies by awarding appropriate credentials such as applied associate degrees, diplomas,
certificates, and/or other acceptable credentials.)

Occupational Education Program—An education program designed to provide a sequence of educational
and skill development experiences that lead to workplace competencies. (Such programs offered by
Commission accredited institutions are designed to prepare individuals for job entry and/or career
advancement.)

Operational Procedure—Specific provisions that have been established by the institution to implement
policies adopted by the governing board.

Placement—A completer of a program who (1) is employed in the field of education pursued or in a related
field, or (2) has received the appropriate credential and entered the military or continued his/her education.
Valid employment in the field or a related field includes placement in a permanent full- or part-time position
with an employer or employment agency, or self-employment in the field of education or a related field.

Policies—A set of written statements providing the bounds within which all procedures, programs, goals,
objectives, and activities of the institution are carried out. These are adopted by the governing board of an
institution (or in military institutions, by higher military command headquarters) to ensure operations are in
compliance with statutory regulations as well as being consistent with the stated mission.

Position—An attitude or stance of an entity—the way a body (organization) looks at an issue or takes a stand
on such. A mental or emotional stance adopted with respect to something.

Pre-accreditation [Candidacy/Candidate for Accreditation]—A status granted to an institution that has
demonstrated compliance with specified eligibility requirements which define the universe of entities that may
seek accreditation by the Commission.
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Procedure—A formal or set order of operating or doing something—a method of conducting affairs.
Process—A series of progressive and independent steps by which an end is attained.

Professional Growth—Planned activities to increase the knowledge, skills, and/or abilities of professional
personnel in areas related directly to job responsibilities.

Pro Forma—A financial statement that is calculated using an accountant’s discretion. It does not follow
GAAP or GAGAS. Rather, calculations are computed according to the estimated relevance of certain events/
conditions experienced by the company. Items that are normally included/excluded from an audited financial
statement using GAAP may be represented differently in a pro forma statement, depending on what the
accountant feels accurately represents the company’s true performance. However, the Council requires

that each pro forma statement submitted must include a balance sheet, an income statement, a cash flow
statement, and notes and disclosures.

Program—A combination of courses and related activities (e.g. laboratory activities and/or work-based
activities) that lead to a credential and are offered by an institution to develop competencies required for a
specific occupation.

Public Institution—An institution that is created, operated, and controlled by a local, state, or federal
governmental entity.

Publication (e.g. catalogs/brochures/pamphlets/web sites)—A catalog and/or other official publications,
which are published in hard copy or provided online, to provide the information specified below that must be
readily available to students, prospective students, and other members of the interested public.

a. The publication(s) must contain and accurately depict the following:

Institutional mission
Admission requirements and procedures
Policy on the transfer of students between programs within the institution
Policy on the transfer of students from other institutions
Policy on the transfer of credits that includes a statement of the criteria
established by the institution regarding the transfer of credit earned at another
institution
6. Basic information on programs and courses, with any required sequences and
frequency of course offerings explicitly stated
7. Program completion requirements, including length of time required to obtain
certification of completion
8. Faculty (full-time and part-time listed separately) with degrees held and the
conferring institution
9. Description of institutional facilities readily available for educational use
10. Rules and regulations for conduct
11. Tuition, fees, and other program costs
12. Opportunities and requirements for financial aid
13. Avocational programs/courses that are neither accredited by the Council, nor qualify
students to receive Title IV financial aid (such as stand-alone ESL programs)
14. Policies, procedures, and time frame for refunding fees and charges to students who
withdraw from enrollment
15. National and/or state legal requirements for eligibility for licensure or entry into an
occupation or profession for which education and training are offered
16. Any unique requirements for career paths or for employment and advancement
opportunities in the profession or occupation described
17. Grading system

agrONE
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18. Academic/school calendar

19. Street address and telephone number of each campus of the institution (main campus
and each additional permanent site)

20. Institution’s student grievance procedure which includes the Commission’s mailing
address, telephone number, and web site address

b. Other publications that make any reference to the institution’s status (candidacy or
accredited) with the Commission must be accurate and must include the name, address,
telephone number, and web site address of the Commission. (In lieu of reference to
the Commission, the institution may use the following statement: “For information about
national and program accreditation, contact the institution.”)

Real, Threatened, or Impending Danger—Any situation which could cause injury to persons on the
institution’s campus, including but not limited to fires, tornadoes, floods, hurricanes, earthquakes, bomb
threats, or violent acts by an individual.

Registrant—A person who registers for instruction with intent to attend.

Related Field (Placement)—Placement of graduate and non-graduate completers in a broader field of

work that uses the knowledge and skills gained in the program of study regardless of whether the work title
specifically references the program of study. Graduate completers who secure employment in a field that does
not require the knowledge and skills gained in the program of study for securing that employment must be
classified as placed in an ‘unrelated’ field. (Non-graduate completers, by definition, must secure employment
in the field of study or a related field, employment that requires knowledge and skills gained in the program, or
must be classified as withdrawals from the program of study.)

Restated (Revised) Audit—A financial statement that has been re-issued by an independent certified public
accountant in order to correct data and/or disclosures from the first statement issued that were not accurately
represented or to include data and/or disclosures that did not appear in the first statement. Restated audits
submitted to the Commission must be clearly labeled as being restated, must provide a detailed list of data
and/or disclosures that have been corrected and/or added since the last statement was submitted to the
Commission, and must be prepared according to the guidelines of the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Restated audits must continue to meet the Commission requirements for audited financial
statements found in Standard 7 — Financial Resources.

Scope (change of)—Any instance in which an institution departs significantly from its mission in regard to the
occupational areas for which it offers preparation or when it seeks to offer its first applied associate degree.

Self-Paced Instruction — An approach to instructional delivery where the student sets the pace of learning
under the guidance and objectives set by an instructor. Criteria for admissions/recruiting, program design,
learning objectives, and instruction provided in any self-paced program must be consistent for every student
enrolled (see criteria of Standard Two — Educational Programs). In a self-paced program, it is a requirement
that the student be given a maximum time parameter for completion of requirements for a specific course,
series of courses, and/or the entire program, as established by the institution. Qualified faculty must be
present as facilitators/resources for students as they proceed through mastering the various subject matters
in courses required for program completion (see criteria of Standard Eight — Human Resources). Additionally,
learning resources and student services and activities must be available to self-paced students as detailed in
Standards Five and Ten. The length of self-paced programs as listed by the Commission must be shown in
terms of average length of time expected for completion of program requirements, unless a state or federal
authorizing agency mandates otherwise. (The Commission does not use the terms ‘self-paced instruction’ and
‘open-entry/open-exit scheduling’ interchangeably.)

Service Area—Service area is defined as the contiguous geographical area surrounding the institution from
which the institution expects to attract students and serve employers.
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Staff—The administrative, supervisory, faculty, and non-instructional personnel employed by an
institution.

Standard—Generalizable conditions determined to be essential for objectives to be achieved.

Strategic Planning—A formalized, systematic process that the institution uses to anticipate and respond to
major decisions facing it in the future.

Student - a person who is formally engaged in learning as demonstrated by a commitment to attend class
and pay tuition (regardless of the source) for instruction offered by an educational institution.

Syllabus (Syllabi) - an outline or other brief statement of the main points of the subjects of a course or
lecture, the contents of a curriculum, etc.

Technical Infrastructure—The framework of an institution’s electronic student, financial, and IT information
system inclusive of hardware and software that supports students, faculty, and staff services that guide
institutional operations including the delivery of distance education as approved by the Council.

Third-Party Audit Certification—A certification process by which a Commission-selected independent
certified public accountant thoroughly reviews all re-stated audited financial statements and other
guestionable statements submitted to the Commission for clarity, accuracy, and compliance with all Federal
and Commission requirements governing the formal reporting of financial data.

Traditional Program—a program that requires all instructional hours to be completed on campus.

Vision of the Institution—A values-based description of a desired future for the institution that clarifies the
institution’s image and how it should conduct itself as it fulfills its mission.

Vocational English-As-A-Second-Language Program—see current edition of the Policies and Rules of the
Commission.

Withdrawal—A student who enrolled in an institution but withdrew before acquiring sufficient competencies
for employment and before earning a credential in the field of education pursued or a related field.

Work-Based Activities—Structured learning activities conducted in supervised work settings external to
the institution or in a setting that involves the public (for example: clients who are served by the institution in
cosmetology clinical or automotive technology settings) that are components of educational programs (e.qg.,
externships, internships, clinical experiences, industrial cooperative education, and similar

activities). These activities must be planned with at least two objectives:

1)  To provide students with the opportunity to develop and apply a ‘real-world’ work experience
using the knowledge and skills they attained in their program of study; and,
2)  To provide the institution with objective input from potential employers or customers of

program graduates.
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